PAIR INVESTMENT
COMPANY LIMITED

Financial Statements
for the Year Ended
December 31, 2023




Head Office:
Pair Investment Company Limited T (o21) 35829621-24

178 Floor, Ocean Tower, ¢ {(o21) 3530 3526
G-3, Block-g, Main Clifton Road
Karachi - 75600 /,

PAIR

PAIR INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
CHAIRMAN'’s REVIEW FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2023

It is my pleasure to share with you the Financial Statements of PAIR Investment Company
Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2023.

With the patronage from both the shareholders, growth of the Company continues in a
steday manner and seems fairly positive in the foreseeable future. The whole management
team and the Board is fully geared towards increasing the profitability and strengthening
the Company in the years ahead.

It is indeed a moment of pride while | share exceptionally good financial performance of the
Company for the year ended December 31,2023. The Company continued its streak of
outstanding performance, both in terms of the volumetric growth in the total assets size as
well as in terms of profitability. The profit before tax increased by 69% and crossed the
billion mark for the first time in the history of the company while,profit after tax came
t072% at PKR 768.751million. The total asset of the Company continued to grow organically
to PKR 36.441 billion which was anincrease of 11% over the last year. While the number of
borrowers and depositors increased, the Company is continuously improving its systems and
processes, the acquisition and implementation of new software is a key initiative in this
respect. Towards the end of 2023 the credit management system has been successfully
automated whereas, treasury module is in advance stage of compeltion.

While there were some additions to the list of non-performing loans however, the Board
and management of the Company are proactively monitoring the overall portfolio as well as
each of the borrower to ensure efficient management of the Portfolio. Effective from
January 2023 Company adopted IFRS- 9 Financial Instruments which requires the calculation
of Expected Credit Loss against all the financial assets in a certain way. This has significantly
improved the Coverage ratios. All out efforts are being made to recover the non-performing
assets. Court settlement cases are being vigorously pursued and many of them have been
finalized during 2023. Overall positive impact on financial statements is expected.
Investment portfolio composition was made keeping in view the change in the interest rates
scenario.

Asset and Liability Committee continues to oversee the asset profile and keeps aligning the
asset booking and fund generation keeping in view economic constraints. Efforts are being
made to diversify the funding sources and increase in the customer base. Many new
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companies have been added during last year and more will be added to the portfolio during
the coming year.

This was only possible because of the hardwok by highly motivated team of PAIR and
cooperation from our partners and well wishers. | would therefore like to thank all partners
and patrons including Iran Foreign Investments Company, Ministry of Finance- Government
of Pakistan, State Bank of Pakistan and Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan for
their guidance, cooperation and unwavering support to PAIR. | would also like to appreciate
team members of PAIR, especially Mr. Abbas Daneshvar, CEO/MD, for their commitment
and hardwork. Last but not least, | would like to thank my fellow Board members including
Dr. Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian and Mr. Amir Mehmood for their ideas and support
to enhance the performance of PAIR for the benefit of both Iran and Pakistan.

Zulfigar Younas

Acting Chairman of the Board of Directors
February 22" 2024

Pakistan
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PAIR INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the Financial Statements of PAIR Investment
Company Limited (PAIR) for the year ended December 31, 2023. These Financial Statements have been
prepared in compliance with the requirements of BPRD Circular No. 10 dated November 27, 2018, and BPRD
Circular No. 2 dated February 09, 2023.

Economic Overview:

Macro-economic environment of the country remained challenging while political uncertainty associated with
the election kept the business sentiments and confidence swinging. The country grappled with an acute
balance of payments crisis, marked by
significantly low foreign exchange reserves
of around USD 5.6 billion at start of the
year, compounded further by elevated loan
repayments. Inflation averaged at 31% in
CY23, driven by currency adjustments and

supply side constraints amidst devastating .., SR 7 do%

26.90%

floods and import rationing. The country
was able to secure a Stand-by Arrangement
of USD 3 billion from IMF for 9 months
towards the end of the first half of 2023. Which gave respite to some extent and restored some economic
stability. A lot of economic indicators have improved thereafter. For the country to be eligible for the next IMF
program the continuation of gradual improvement going forward is a must.

In terms of GDP growth, the economic activity
remained lackluster. As per State Bank of
Pakistan (“SBP”) The real GDP growth
decelerated considerably to 0.3 percent in FY23,
from around 6 percent during the previous two

GDP Growth From Negative to Positive

years. It was the third lowest growth recorded in
the history of Pakistan. Both the structural f B OB
weaknesses, amplified by domestic and global R e A
shocks, and policy-induced siowdown in :

=
W

-0.9%

domestic demand severely constrained the post

pandemic momentum in growth. GDP growth is expected to be maintained between 2% to 3 % for the fiscal
year 2024 as per the latest Monetary Policy Statement (“MPS).
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While inflation averaged 31% in CY2023, it is expected to start cooling off and fall in the range of 20-22% owing

to high base effect. We believe that the run-rate of monthly price

increments will slow down since bulk of the price increases in various ~ 23-Jan-23| Rate increased by 100bps |17.00%

items have already been implemented by the government. In the 92-Mar-23 Rateincreased by 300bps 20.00%
: : i 04-Apr-23 Rate increased by 100bps 21.00%|

past monetary policy meetings from July 2023 till January CY2024, T T

12Jun-23  Unchanged 2100%
the central bank has held the rates unchanged, but expectations are 26-Jun-23| Rate increased by 100bps | 22.00%|

building in the market that the first rate-cut may take place in March  31-Jul-23.  Unchanged ~  22.00%
CY2024. During CY24, market analyst expects a 4 - 6% reduction in - .+-5eP-23 Unchaoged_____122.00%)

. . " ] . 30-Oct-23 Unchanged 22.00%
the policy rate. Creating room for the positive credit off take which 12-Dec-23 Unchanged 2209%
remained negative for the first three quarter before turning positive = 29-lan-24 Unchanged 122.00%

in the last quarter of CY2023.

The stock market showcased robust rater phenomenal
performance in CY 2023. The KSE-100 Index soared by a _
remarkable 22,031 points, reflecting a solid return of e sz
54.5%. Investor sentiment turned to buoyancy with IMF

SLA in November and other loan agreements & oy

disbursements from Multilateral Development Banks, ‘ Aeperse
with significant funds from the Asian Development Bank

(ADB), World Bank, and Asian Infrastructure Investment . ..um.ﬁ
Bank (AlIB). Increased in foreign participation in the ' _E L S -
market as well as positive movement in the forex e

PSX - KSE 100

46,231.59

45,002.42
40,510.3745 000.g3 41/580.85

41,330.56 41,452.69

40,673.06

reserves and the CAD. Looking ahead, equities have substantial potential. Robust corporate earnings growth,
attractive Price-to-Earnings multiples, and potential liquidity from institutional inflows, especially from
foreigners, present positive indicators. Having said that, the political stability remains the key underling factor
for the smooth functioning of the stock market.

Financial Highlights

Total assets Increased by PKR 3.7 billion and closed at PKR 36.4 billion as against PKR 32.7 billion as of
December 31, 2022. Net Investment increased approximately by PKR 1.6 billion whereas net advances
increased by PKR 1.2 billion when compared to the December 31, 2022. Increase in Investment comes to 7%
while advances increased by 13%. The focus was to maintain the better averages from the start of the year
which translated very well into the profit and loss numbers. Keeping expected change in the interest rate cycle
the portfolio shift has been started from fourth quarter to build the fixed income investments. The rally in the
stock market towards the later part of the half year went to the favour of the company and healthy gains were
earned however to capitalize these gains portfolio size was reduced. The management is of the view that the
replenishments should be done during the periods when the market takes corrections and not immediately.

Company continues to improve the balance sheet footings consistently. In increasing the balance sheet size
there was no compromise on the quality of assets albeit the disproportionate increase in cost of doing the
business has created such a pushback on some of the clients that we had to see some new classification in the
nonperforming loans. Management is in active liaison with these borrowers and is positive for the full recovery
of the classified loans. The gross advances as at close of 2023 are PKR 12.86 billion versus PKR 11.30 billion as
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at the close of 2022. New names were added along with deepening of the existing relationship. As the portfolio
is growing the volumes are increasing in terms of disbursements too. The challenges in the wake of tough
economic conditions are known to the management, hence each and every client in the portfolio is being
evaluated and reassessed on a continuing basis. Team expansion and increasing the reach out remains in sight
and ensured. The management will continue to grow the portfolio organically with caution. Debt securities
comprising of the government securities and other than government securities have performed very well for
the Company. The exposure in floater government bonds is not being increased rather additions are being
made to the portfolio in form of the fixed income bonds, keeping in view the market and interest rate changes.

Profit and loss account continues its strong performance with a streak of upward movement. From the
earnings stand point, FY-2023 was yet another good year for PAIR. PKR 5.87 billion were earned in the markup
income as opposed to PKR 3.24 billion last year which is an increase of 81% while the Net Revenue from Fund
increased by 53% to PKR 1.70 billion. Other income was more than doubled itself with last year capital market
losses turning to positive while dividend income improved itself. Total non-markup income earned was PKR
223.52 million while the same was PKR 109.60 million. With the scarcity of funding, management is making all
out efforts for exploring and venturing into the nonfunded avenues.

Effective January 01, 2023 the Company adopted the IFRS-9 therefore the credit losses against the assets are
determined as accordingly. During the year specific charge of PKR 163.95 million while PKR 70.64 million in
terms of general provision was taken against the non-performing loans. PKR 20.88 million were reversed from
the stock of specific provision while general provisions were adjusted by PKR 55.37 million there were no write
off during the year.

Administrative expenses grew in the wake of increase in fuel, electricity and other ancillary charges for office
running. Management remained focused on modernizing the information technology infrastructure as such
major work on the credit management system and treasury modules is completed. Effective beginning of 2024
the credit proposals are being processed through the newly implemented software solution. PAIR remains
committed to align processes and upgrade the systems to deliver the financial solutions its customer require.

Credit Rating

Pakistan Credit Rating Agency Limited (PACRA) has reaffirmed entity rating long-Term Entity Rating ‘AA
‘(Double A) and a short-term Entity Rating of ‘A1+ (A-One Plus). These ratings indicate a very low expectation
of credit risk emanating a very strong capacity for timely payment of financial commitments. The ratings of
PAIR primarily reflect the joint sovereign ownership of Pakistan and Iran.

Statement of Internal Controls

The Board is pleased to endorse the statement made by management relating to internal controls including
management’s evaluation of ICFR. The Management's Statement on Internal Controls is included in the Annual
Report.
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Corporate and Financial Reporting Framework

The Board of Directors of PAIR, for the purpose of establishing a framework of good corporate governance,
has implemented the relevant provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance for the year ended December
31, 2023. Review report on the Statement of Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance from the
external auditors is annexed with this report. As required under the Code of Corporate Governance, the Board
of Directors states that:

° The financial statements prepared by the management of PAIR present fairly its state of affairs, the
results of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity.

° Proper books of accounts of the Company have been maintained.

° Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in the preparation of the financial
statements and accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment.

° International Accounting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan, have been followed in the preparation
of the financial statements and any departure therefrom has been adequately disclosed.

° As a continuous process, efforts have been made to effectively implement the internal control system.
An effective and sound system of internal control is in place in accordance with the requirements of
the regulatory authorities.

. There is no doubt regarding PAIR’s ability to continue as a going concern.
° There has been no material departure from the best practices of the Code of Corporate Governance.
° Key operating and financial data for the years 2014-2023 in a summarized form is included in the

annual report.

° The tax outstanding amount and reason thereon are properly disclosed in the attached financial
statements.

Risk Management Framework

Taking cognizance of various types of business risks, an effective risk management framework is embedded in
PAIR’s strategy and organization structure. An independent Credit and Risk Management Department
(“CRMD") is working as a core function to strengthen Company-wide Risk Management activities by adopting
Basel 11/11l Framework. PAIR is fully compliant with the Capital Adequacy Requirements of the State Bank of
Pakistan under the Standardized Approach for Credit and Market Risk and Basic Indicator Approach for
Operational Risk.

The prevailing economic situation has led the company to set its focus towards the deployment of stringent
risk management policies to assess, mitigate and monitor major risks associated with business operations of
the company. Accordingly, the Company has established a set of activities and creates core functions to
administer, manage and report in order to complement its core business objectives and to remain abreast
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with the latest developments & challenges to safeguard shareholders’ interests & enhance Shareholder’s
wealth.

The Company has implemented a robust Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) to establish
more Risk Sensitive Assessment, Capital planning, formalization of Company-wide Risk Appetite, and to remain
abreast of the internal and external risks that may impact future operations of the company. The deployment
of this process allowed adequate management of capital as the Capital Adequacy Ratio stood at 36.41%
against the regulatory requirement of 11.50% including Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB) of 1.5%. This
contributed to the development of risk appetite and concentration levels with respect to the transaction level
risk profiling as well as integrated portfolio management.

PAIR also periodically evaluates the organic strength of business by conducting Stress Testing of overall risk
exposure. It helps to ensure the smooth operations of the business under hypothetically stressed
circumstances. For this, CRMD applies shocks on different risk factors including interest rate, credit, equity
price, and liquidity. Results of the latest stress testing exercise depict the solid and resilient financial position
of the Company. The stress testing methodology implemented by PAIR is in adherence to SBP guidelines.

The Credit & Risk Management Department is also involved in the development of entity-wide policies,
procedures, systems, and reporting mechanisms to achieve and maintain entity-wide best rating status and
adaption of risk management principals in true letter and spirit. Further, the Board Risk Management
Committee and Board of Directors of the Company, oversee the strategy related to risk management. In
addition, the Internal Audit department conducts independent, risk-based review and verification of major
functions throughout the year for evaluation of control systems supplemented by Internal Control and
Compliance Divisions.

Events after the Date of Statement of Financial Position

There have not been any material events that occurred subsequent to the date of the statement of

the financial position that requires adjustments to the enclosed financial statements, except those
which have already been made or disclosed.

Corporate Social Responsibility

PAIR Investment Company Limited is strongly committed to its corporate social responsibility. It is deeply
ingrained in our work culture. We firmly believe that our responsibilities extend far beyond mere profitability,
encompassing our dedication to our employees, society, and the environment.

For the employees we are delighted to share that PAIR Investment Company Ltd. proudly sponsors one staff
member each year to perform the Hajj. To ensure fairness, we employ a transparent balloting process during
the selection. To encourage female participation in the progress of economy we aim at providing the enable
environment for our female team members. In designing the new head office premises, emphasis was given
to have a designated day care space where children can be brought in during the working hours to facilitate
the working mothers. We feel even happier to report that the facility has been a helping hand to our male
team members too from time to time. During the year we celebrated women’s day too, to acknowledge the
contributions our colleagues are making to the development of the organization. We aim to foster goodwill
and strengthen our collective bond as a team.
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We are privileged to highlight our ongoing philanthropic donations to various institutions. It's important to
note that all directors, executives, and their spouses have no vested interests in these charitable endeavors.
This transparency reinforces our commitment to making a positive impact on the communities we serve.

Being a joint venture between the two brotherly countries, inclusion of the charitable organizations or the
projects of Iranian origin are also be ensured within the permissible rules and regulations.

During the year the Company paid donations to the following institutions where none of the directors,
executives or their spouses had any interest in the done (Donation/Charity):

Name of the Institution PKR ‘000

Iranian School managed locally 1,028
The Kidney Centre 600
Sindh Institute of Urology and Transplantation 1,372
Patient Aid Foundation 600
Layton Rahmatullah Benevolent Trust 600
The Citizen Foundation 800

Board of Directors

Five (5) Board Meetings were held during the year 2023. The director(s) who were not able to attend any of

the meeting(s) were duly granted a leave of absence by the Board. The directors of the company attended the
meetings, as under:

Name of Director Category Representing Meetings Attended
Zahoor Ahmed - Director Non—?xecutlve MOF-Pakistan 2
Director
Aamer Mahmood Hussain - Director Non-.executjve MOF-Pakistan 5
Director
Zulfigar Younas — Director** Non-'executfve MOF-Pakistan 3
Director
Gholamreza Khalil Arjmandi - Director Non—.executrve IFIC -Iran 1
Director
Masoud Mirzaei — Director*** BaD SR IFIC -Iran 1
Director
Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian**** Non-execuitive IFIC -Iran 3
Director
Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi — Executive
. IFIC -Iran 5
MD/CEO Director

*Mr. Arif Ahmed Khan appointed as chairman of the Board, resigned from the board on 25 March 2019.
Thereafter the meetings are presided by acting chairman of the board with the unanimous consensus of the
board members.

The remuneration paid to Directors for participation in Board and Committee Meetings is disclosed in note 37.2
to the financial statements.
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**Mr. Zulfigar Younas was appointed as new Pakistani Board Member in place of Mr. Zahoor Ahmed on 29
August, 2023.

***Mr. Masoud Mirzaei was appointed as new Iranian Board Member in place of Mr. Gholamreza Khalil
Arjmandi on 16 March, 2023.

#*£*Mr. Seyed Mohammad Hadj Sobhanian was appointed as new Iranian Board Member in place of Mr.
Masoud Mirzaei on 13 September, 2023.

Board Committees

Four (4) meetings of Board Audit Committee (BAC), Four (4) meetings of Board Risk Management Committee
(BRMC), Three (3) meetings of Board Human Resource Committee (BHRCC) and Three (2) meeting of Board
Strategic Investment Committee (BSIC) were held during 2023.

The member(s) who were not able to attend any of the meeting(s) were duly granted leave of absence by the
committee. The details of the meetings attended by each committee member are as under:

Name of Director Representing  Designation and No. of Meetings Attended
e
MQOF- Chairman - BSIC 1
Zalhinor. Alimed Pakistan Chairman - BHRC 2
Chairman - BAC 4
Aamer Mahmood Hussain r:ii;an Member - BHRC 3
Chairman - BRMC 4
Zilfigar Yolitias MOF- Chairman - BSIC 2
Pakistan Chairman - BHRC 1
Member - BAC 1
Gholamreza Khalil Arjmandi IFIC -Iran Member - BHRC 1
Member - BRMC 1
Member - BAC i
Masoud Mirzaei IFIC -Iran Member - BRMC 1
Member - BSIC 1
Member - BAC 2
. . Member - BHRC 1
Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian IFIC -Iran Nerbor “BRNC >
Member - BSIC 2
Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi — IFIC -Iran Member - BHRC 3
MD/CEO Member - BSIC 3
Member - BRMC 4
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Staff End of Service Benefits

The Bank operates two post-retirement funds, Provident Fund & Gratuity Fund. The carrying value of
investments and bank balance respective funds as at December 31, 2023, were:

e
»
0

e e PR O e
2023 - Audited 76,490 140,381
2022 - Audited 64,655 108,507

Earnings Per Share
Basic and Diluted earnings per share have been disclosed in note 33 of the financial statements.

Pattern of Shareholding

Shareholders Shareholding
Government of Pakistan through the Ministry of Finance 50%
Government of Iran through Iran Foreign Investment Company 50%
Total 100%

Appointment of Auditors

The present auditors M/s. Yousuf Adil & Co, Chartered Accountants, retired and being eligible offer themselves
for re-appointment in the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Therefore, on the suggestion of the Audit
Committee, the Board of Directors recommends the shareholders to appoint M/s. Yousuf Adil & Co Chartered
Accountants as the statutory auditor of the company for the financial year ending December 31, 2024.

Future Outlook

The global economy seems to be on the mend as Central Banks across the globe are seeking for much more
controlled approach in terms of rate cuts for achieving their inflation targets. This will allow for enhanced
demand and strong consumer confidence among global consumers. However, on the flip side the
Russia/Ukraine conflict along with the Palestinian Conflict could keep sustained pressures on world markets
and if they escalate it may cause supply route disruptions causing increment increases in global commodity
prices thus creating a negative scenario locally and globally.

We expect the economy to rebound and show a good growth from second half of 2024. Elections will provide
a framework for stronger policy implementation moving forward. Looking at the things as they are, long term
IMF program is needed in order for sustainable growth rate and improve economical structure while the new
government would be willing to agree to the IMF conditions. This will also have a positive impact on the
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investor confidence thus enhancing foreign investments amid much needed FX reserves. Further the inflation
is also expected to start ease out in 2024 enabling the central bank to reduce the policy rate.

We foresee 2024 will provide will provide the much-needed clarity and sense of direction to the business
community while we will work on the expanding the loan book it would be strictly monitored and reviewed
for any signs of weaknesses in the venerable clients having faced a long spell of economic and sustainability
challenges for the last few years including the COVID time period. While onboarding will be done where the
assessment and judgement can be made with sufficient reliability. Investments in debt securities will continue
to provide the much need earnings support while challenges internal to the company will be managed through
alternative solutions. Management will be continued to look for the avenues for the non-funded income.
Seemingly an agile and continuous alignment of the internal polices would be required hence active asset and
liabilities management is planned for 2024 by the management of the Company.

Appreciation and Acknowledgement

We take this opportunity to express our gratitude to our customers and business partners for entrusting their
confidence in us in these turbulent times and assure them that we remain committed to maintaining high
service standards and a strong culture of good corporate governance and compliance in all our endeavors. We
offer sincere appreciation to the Iran Foreign Investment Company, Ministry of Finance - Government of
Pakistan, State Bank of Pakistan, and Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan for their guidance and
cooperation extended to us. Finally, we are also thankful to our associates, staff, and colleagues for all their
continued dedication, enthusiasm, and loyalty towards the growth of PAIR.

Zulfigar Younas neshvar Hakimi Meibodi
Acting Chairman of the Board of Directors Managing Director/ Chief Executive Office

February 2 2023
Islamabad, Pakistan
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF PAIR
INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Review Report on the Statement of Compliance contained in Listed Companies (Code of Corporate
Governance) Regulations, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the best practices of The Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of PAIR Investment
Company Limited (the Company) for the year ended December 31, 2023, in accordance with the requirements of the
Regulations to the extent as adopted by the Company.

The responsibility for voluntary compliance with the Regulations (as adopted) is that of the Board of Directors of the
Company. Our responsibility is to review, to the extent where such compliance can be objectively verified, whether the
Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company’s compliance with the provisions of the Regulations (as
adopted) and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of the Regulations (as
adopted). A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company’s personnel and review of various documents prepared
by the Company to comply with the Regulations (as adopted).

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting and internal
control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We are not required to consider
whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal control covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the
effectiveness of such internal controls, the Company’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations (as adopted) require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation of
the Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related party transactions and
also ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 208 of the Companies Act, 2017. We are only required and have
ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the related party transactions by the Board of
Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of Compliance
does not appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material respects, with the requirements contained in the
Regulations as adopted by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023. We draw attention to the following

matters described in the enclosed Statement:

o The Regulations are not applicable on Development Financial Institutions (DFIs) vide BPRD Circular No. 14 dated
October 20, 2016 issued by the State Bank of Pakistan. However, the Company has voluntarily adopted certain
provisions of the Regulations as mentioned in the enclosed statement.

The engagement partner on the review resulting in this independent auditor’s review report is Hena Sadiq

adulu

artered Accountants

Place: Karachi
Date: March 1, 2024
UDIN: CR202310057MXbgy9qFQ




Statement of Compliance with best practice of the
Code of Corporate Governance

PAIR Investment Company Limited
Year ended December 31, 2023

PATR

SBP vide BPRD Circular no.14 dated October 20, 2016 has advised that the requirement in terms of
Prudential Regulation G-1 with regards to the applicability of Code of Corporate Governance issued by
the Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) shall not be applicable on DFIs. However, it
is expected that all DFIs will continue to follow the best practices of Corporate Governance.
Accordingly, the Company, has adopted certain provisions of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate

Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the ‘Regulations’), as applicable.

Accordingly, the Statement of Compliance prescribed by SECP as given below has been adjusted to the

extent the same has been adopted by the Company.

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner:

As per the joint venture arrangement between Government of Pakistan and Government of
Iran, the Company’s Board of Directors comprises of six directors and all directors are
nominated by both the shareholders. The Company encourages representation of non-
executive directors on its Board of Directors (the Board). At present the Board includes
following four Directors:

Category Names
Executive Director Mr. Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi
Non-Executive Directors Mr. Zulfigar Younas

Mr. Aamer Mahmood Hussain
Dr. Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian

All the resident directors of the Company are registered as taxpayers and none of them has
defaulted in payment of any loan to a banking company, a DFI or an NBFI or, being a member
of a stock exchange, has been declared as a defaulter by that stock exchange.

The Company has prepared a “Code of Conduct” and has ensured that appropriate steps have
been taken to disseminate it throughout the Company along with its supporting policies and
procedures.

The Board has developed a vision/mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant
policies of the Company. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of
significant policies along with their date of approval or updating is maintained by the Company.

All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have
been taken by the Board as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these
Regulations (as adopted).
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The Board has a formal policy and transparent procedure for remuneration of directors in
accordance with the directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan and the Regulations.

There was no change of Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Audit and Company Secretary.

The Board has approved the remuneration of CFO, Head of Internal Audit Department and
Company Secretary;

The Directors’ report for this year has been prepared in compliance with the requirements of
the CCG and fully describes the salient matters required to be disclosed.

Chief financial officer and the Chief Executive Officer duly endorsed the financial statements
before approval of the Board,;

The Directors, CEO and executives do not hold any interest in the shares of the Company other
than that disclosed in the pattern of shareholding.

The Company has complied with all the corporate and financial reporting requirements of the
CCG.

The Board has formed committees comprising of members given below:

Name of Director Category

Mr. Aamer Mahmood Hussain Non-executive / Chairman

Dr. Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian Non-executive / Member
Name of Director Category
Mr. Zulfigar Younas Non-executive / Chairman
Mr. Aamer Mahmood Hussain Non-executive / Member
Mr. Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi Executive Director / Member
Dr. Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian Non-executive / Member
Name of Director Category
Mr. Aamer Mahmood Hussain Non-executive / Chairman
Mr. Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi Executive Director / Member
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Name of Director Category

Mr. Zulfigar Younas Non-executive / Chairman
Dr. Seyed Mohammad Hadi Sobhanian Non-executive / Member
Mr. Abbas Daneshvar Hakimi Meibodi Executive Director / Member

The frequency of Board & Committee meetings were as per following:

Minimum quarterly meetings of the BOD were held, the details
of which are as under:

Sr. No. Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings
1 70" BOD Meeting 18-Feb-23
2 71° BOD Meeting 28-Apr-23
3 72"BOD Meeting 23-Sep-23
4 73 BOD Meeting 27-Oct-23
5 74 BOD Meeting 16-Dec-23

Minimum quarterly meetings of the Audit Committee were held, the
details of which are as under:

Sr. No. Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings
il 61° BAC Meeting 18-Feb-23
2 62" BAC Meeting 28-Apr-23
3 637 BAC Meeting 23-Sep-23
4 64™ BAC Meeting 27-Oct-23

The Board HRCC Committee met
two times during the year, the details of which are as under:

Sr. No. Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings
1 39" BHRCC Meeting 18-Feb-23
2 40" BHRCC Meeting 28-Apr-23
3 41% BHRCC Meeting 16-Dec-23

The BRMC met quarterly during the year, the
details of which are as under:

Sr. No. Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings
1 46" BRMC Meeting 18-Feb-23
2 47" BRMC Meeting 28-Apr-23
3 48 BRMC Meeting 23-Sep-23
4 49 BRMC Meeting 27-Oct-23
3|Page Statement of Compliance with best practice of the Code of Corporate Governance
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The BSIC met on following dates during the
year, details of which are as under:

Sr. No. Particulars of Meeting Date of Meetings
1 22" BSIC Meeting 28-Apr-23
2 23" BSIC Meeting 27-Oct-23
3 24 BSIC Meeting 16-Dec-23

The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and
advised to the committee for compliance.

The Board has set up an effective internal audit function, which is considered suitably qualified

and experienced for the purpose and are conversant with the policies and procedures of the
Company.

The statutory auditors of the company have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory
rating under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Pakistan and registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners
are in compliance with International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of
ethics as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the
partners of the firm involved in the audit are not a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent
and non-dependent children) of the chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief internal
auditor, company secretary or director of the company.

The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide
other services except in accordance with the Act, these Regulations or any other regulatory
requirement and the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this
regard; and

We confirm that all requirements of regulations 3, 8, 32, 33 and 36 of the Regulations have
been complied with.

2y
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PAIR Investment Company Limited
Statement Of Internal Controls

o

Year ended December 31, 2023 - PATR

This statement is being issued in compliance with the Guidelines on Internal Controls, issued by
the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) vide BSD Circular No. 7 dated May 27, 2004. Paragraph 7a of
the SBP guidelines on Internal Controls requires all Banks and DFls to assess their internal

controls and their effectiveness.
Evaluation of Internal Control Systems by Management

The management of the PAIR Investment is responsible for (i} preparing the DFI’s annual
financial statements in accordance with the approved accounting standards as applicable in
Pakistan, and (ii) establishing and maintaining an adequate internal control structure and

procedures for financial reporting.

The management of PAIR Investment maintains an effective organization structure and
instituting appropriate control procedures and monitors the adequacy/effectiveness of internal
control systems. The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for ensuring that an adequate
and effective System of Internal Controls is established and efforts are made to implement
sound control procedures and to maintain a suitable control environment.

The management of PAIR Investment has adopted internationally accepted COSO Integrated
Framework, in accordance with the guidelines on Internal Controls from the State Bank of
Pakistan and has completed all stages of Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR). In
addition, DFI has formulated comprehensive guidelines for adherence to COSO framework on

continuing basis.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

At management level, the Internal Control Monitoring Committee (ICMC) is responsible for
monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system including ICFR, by
periodically reviewing the internal control systems and implementation of the internal control
gaps /deficiencies identified by the respective departments as a result of self-assessment,
internal auditors, external auditors and regulators reviews. The gap / recommendation report is
then submitted to ICMC which decide on priority and implementation initiatives required taking
into account nature and size of the business and cost benefit analysis of the proposed controls.




S
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Furthermore, it also oversees the implementation of the internal controls framework and
monitors the progress. Significant findings of testing are presented to the Audit Committee of

the Board.

As required by the SBP, Long Form report (LFR) on the assessment of DFI's ICFR for the year
2022 was issued by the statutory auditors. None of the deficiencies identified are expected to
have a material impact on Financial Reporting. Respective departments have carried out testing
of the effectiveness of ICFR prevalent throughout the DFI for the year 2023, Statutory auditors
were engaged to prepare a Long Form Report on ICFR as of December 31, 2023.

The DFl is continuously making efforts to ensure that an effective and efficient Internal Control
System remains active & implemented through consistent & continuous monitoring that would
help in further improving the overall control environment.

Based upon the results achieved from reviews and audits conducted during the year,
management considers that the existing Internal Control System is adequate and has been
effectively implemented and monitored, though room for improvement always exists.

3
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al Auditor

Managing Director/ Chief Financial Officer Chief IAtern
Chief Executive Office

Date: 17 February 2024
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KCHSU, Shahrah-e-Faisal
Karachi-75350

Pakistan

Tel: +92 (0) 21 3454 6494-7
Fax: +92 (0) 21- 3454 1314
www.yousufadil.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of PAIR Investment Company Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed financial statements of PAIR Investment Company Limited (“the Company”), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, the profit and loss account, the statement of
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, along
with notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our

knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the statement of financial
position, the profit or loss account, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the
cash flow statement together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the accounting and reporting standards
as applicable in Pakistan, and, give the information required by the Companies Act, 2017(XIX of 2017), in the manner so
required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at December 31, 2023 and of
the profit, the comprehensive income the changes in equity and its cash flow for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants’ as adopted by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon

Management Is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Director's report for the year ended December 31, 2023, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we concluded that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

G

Independent Correspondent Firm to
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017)
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic

alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

N
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a)  proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017);

b)  the statement of financial position, the profit and loss account, the statement of comprehensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement together with the notes thereon have been drawn up
in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017(XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of account;

investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the purpose of the

c)
Company's business; and

d)  No zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980).

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Hena Sadiq

A
¢ o=
artered Accountants

ace: rachi
Date: March 1,2024
UDIN: AR2023100570iYfB1LVb

Independent Correspondent Firm to
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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PAIR Investment Company Limited
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2023 -

ASSETS

Cash and balances with treasury banks
Balances with other banks

Lendings to financial institutions
Investments

Advances

Property and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Deferred tax asset

Other assets

LIABILITIES

Bills payable

Borrowings

Deposits and other accounts
Lease liabilities
Subordinated loans
Deferred tax liabilities

Other liabilities

NET ASSETS

REPRESENTED BY

Share capital
Reserves

Surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of assets

Unappropriated profit

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The annexed notes 1 to 44 form an integral part of these financial statements.

e
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Chief Financial Officer

Chief Exsetive and Chalrman

Managing Director

Note

@

10
11
12

13
14

15

16
17
18

19

December 31,
2023

December 31,

2022

----=---—— (Rupees in '000) ---=------

158,668 154,022
296,119 41,997
22,650,509 21,089,015
10,651,883 9,441,731
486,364 472,102
9,223 ' 5,202
441,163 458,493
1,747,961 1,078,493
36,441,890 32,741,055
21,789,218 20,336,117
2,724,472 1,771,610
1,347,042 860,269
25,860,732 22,967,996
10,581,158 9,773,059
6,000,000 6,000,000
1,247,496 1,093,746
187,928 (268,497)
3,145,734 2,947,810
10,581,158 9,773,059

Ve ="
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' PAIR Investment Company Limited
!~ Profitand Loss Account
For the year ended December 31, 2023

k‘
} ' December 31,  December 31,
2023 2022
1 Note  --==eeemm- (Rupees in '000) ----------
Mark-up / return / interest earned 22 5,868,479 3,243,562
.~ Mark-up / return / interest expensed 23 4,167,770 2,131,696
Net mark-up / interest income 1,700,709 1,111,866
NON MARK-UP / INTEREST INCOME
Fee and Commission income 24 17,487 22,589
Dividend income 161,176 149,369
. Foreign Exchange income / (loss) 2,473 3,466
' Income / (loss) from derivatives . - -
- Gain / (loss) on securities 25 42,669 (72,785)
R Net gains / (losses) on derecognition of
financial assets measured at amortised cost ) -
Other income 26 16 6,960
Total non mark-up / interest income 223,521 109,599
Total Income 1,924,230 1,221,465
3 NON MARK-UP / INTEREST EXPENSES
Operating expenses 27 625,797 457,101
Workers Welfare Fund ' ' 21,455 12,713
Other charges : 28 - A
Total non mark-up / interest expenses 647,252 469,814
Profit before credit loss allowance 1,276,978 751,651
Credit loss allowance and write offs - net 29 170,882 97,285
k PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 1,106,096 654,366
Taxation 30 337,345 208,389
* PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 768,751 445,977
— Basic and diluted earnings per share g 31 1.28 0.74

The annexed notes 1 to 44 form an integral part of these financial statements.

3& ‘
(@l . o

€

—

»
Chief Financial Officer CHlefaE)‘gnt{tlve and Chairma Difector Director
_.Managing Director

|

d



PAIR Investment Company Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2023

Profit after taxation for the year
Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss accountin
subsequent periods: '

Movement in surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of investments in equity investments - net of tax

Movement in surplus / (deficlt) on revaluation of debt investments through fair value other
comprehensive income - net of tax

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss account in
subsequent periods:

Remeasurement loss / (gain) on defined benefit obligations - net of tax

Movement in surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of investments in equity investments - net of tax
Movement in surplus on revaluation of non-banking assets - net of tax

Realised gain on sale of securities classified as fair value other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

The annexed notes 1 to 44 form an integral part of these financial statements.

B
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Chief Financial Officer

Chief Exetutive and Chairma

Managing Director

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
--------- (Rupees in '000) -------—-

768,751 445,977

. (126,452)

51,278 (100,165)

10,546 (9,699)
405,147 :

: 58,256
101,487 -

1,337,209 267,917

e

Diyéwr Director
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PAIR Investment Company Limited
Statement of Changes In Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2023

Statutory

Share capital
reserve

Note

Surplus / (deficit) on
revaluation of

Investments

Balanco as at 01 January 2022 6,000,000 1,004,551
Total comprehensive Incama for the year

(41,830)

{Rupees in '000)

Non-Banking

asset

Unappropriated
profit

Total

31,218

2,661,253

9,665,142

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 -

Other comprehensive Income

Movement In deficit on revaluation of Investments
In equity Investments - net of tax % >

Movement [n deficit on revaluation of investments in debt

Instruments - net of tax - $

Remeasurement loss on defined
benefit obligations - net of tax =

Transferred to accumulated profit In respect of
Incremental depreciation for the year - 5

Movement In surplus on revaluation of non-banking assets - . -
‘- net of tax

Transfer of Surplus to Unappropriated Profit - net of tax C >

(126,452)

(1C0,165)

(1,855)
58,256

(87,619)

445,977

(9.699)

1,855

87,619

445,977

(126,452)
(100,1685)
(9,699)

58,256

Total comprehensive Income for the
year oended 31 Decembor 2022 - -

Transfer to statutory reserve 17 - 89,185

Final cash dividend - 31 December 2021 declared
subsequent to the year end - -

(226,617)

(31,218)

525,752
(89,195)

(150,000)

267,917

(150,000) -

Balanco as at 31 December 2022 6,000,000 1,083,746
Impact of first time adoptlon of IFRS-8 4211

Total comprehensive income

(268,497)

2,947,810
(179,110)

9,773,089
(179,110)

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 - C

Other comprehensive Income
Movement In surplus on revaluation of Investments
in equity Investments = net of tax . -

Movement In surplus on revaluation of Investments in debt
Instruments - net of tax = o
Reallsed gain on sale of securities classified as FVOCI

Remeasurement gain / (loss) on defined
benefit obligaticns - net of tax . -

Transferred to accumulated profit in respect of
incremental depreclation for the year - -

Movement in surplus on revaluation of non-banking assets - -
‘- net of tax

405,147

51,278

768,751

101,487

10,546

768,751

405,147

51,278
101,487

10,546

Transfer of Surplus o Unappriated Profit - net of tax 2 = S

Total comprehenslve Income for the year . SR IR PSR SRR
ended 31 December 2023 - e

Transfer to statutory reserve 17 - - 153,750

Transactions with owners recorded
dlrectly In equity

Final cash dividend - 31 December 2022 declared
subsequent to the year end in 2022 - -

880,784
(153,750)

(350,000)

1,337,209

(350,000)

Balance as at 31 December 2023 6,000,000 1,247,496

187,928

3,145,734

10,581,158

The annexed notes 1 to 44 form an integral pad of these financial statements.
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PAIR Investment Company Limited
Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended December 31, 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation

" Less: Dividend income

(})

Adjustments:
Depreciation on owned fixed assets
Amortisation
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Mark-up / return / profit / interest expensed on lease liability against right-of-use assets
Impairment of assets
Credit loss allowance and write-offs
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Charge for defined benefit plan
Unrealised gain / (loss) on revaluation of equity investments classified as FVPL

Decrease In operating assets
Lendings to financial institutions
Securities classified as FVPL
Advances
Others assets (excluding advance taxation)

Increase in operating llabilities
Borrowings from financial institutions
Deposits
Other liabilities (excluding current taxation)

Income tax paid
Defined benefits paid

Net cash flows from operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net Investments in securities classified as FVOCI
Net Investments in amortized cost securities
Dividend income received
Investments in property and equipment
Disposal of property and equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid
Payment of lease liability against right-of-use assets

Net cash flows from financing activlt!es

Increase / '(Decrease) In cash and cash equlvalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

The annexed notes 1 to 44 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Fmanclal Officer ,Chw;%ecutlve and Chﬂ'fmgn

Managing Director

32

December 31,
2023

December 31,
2022

......... (Rupees In '000) ----eeemev

1,106,096 654,366
(161,176) (149,369)
944,920 504,997
28,683 22,112
162 118
. 8,153
. 3,068
12,406 32,469
158,342 64,816
(16) (6,960)
16,329 12,330
166 740
216,072 136,846
1,160,992 641,843
(16,696) (4,169)
(1,033,701) (2,989,983)
(352,047) (448,090)
(1,402,444) (3,442,242)
1,453,101 6,677,761
952,862 639,363
494,602 290,829
2,900,565 7,607,953
2,659,113 4,807,554
(647,584) (383,879)
(28,958) (12,329)
1,982,571 4,411,346
(1,603,610) (4,456,513)
115,741 72,974
161,176 149,369
(47,209) (68,967)
99 7,163
(1,373,803) (4,295,974)
(350,000 (150,000)
i (7.790
(350,000) (157,790)
258,768 (42,418)
196,019 238,437
454,787 196,019

7o tor— Director




PAIR Investment Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2023

21

2.2

2.3

2
-

STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

PAIR investment Company Limited (the Company) is an unlisted Public Limited Company incorporated in Pakistan on 15
January 2007 under the Companies Act, 2017 (repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984). The Company has been notified as
a Development Financial Institution (DF[) by the Ministry of Finance, Government of Pakistan.

The Company is a Joint Venture (50:50) between Government of Pakistan and fran Foreign lnvestment Company which is
owned by the Government of Iran. The Company's objectives interalia includes financing for industrial and commercial
projects, capital and money market operations and other investment banking activities. Its registered and principal office is
situated at 17th Fioor Ocean Tower, Clifton, Karachi. The other regional office is siluated at Mezzanine Floor, PACE Tower

T-27-H Gulberg 2, Lahore.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the format of financial statements prescribed by the State
Bank of Pakistan (SBP) vide BPRD Circular No. 02 of 2023 dated February 08, 2023 effective from the accounting year

ending December 31, 2023.

These financial statements have been presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Company's functional and presentation
currency.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with approved accounting and reporting standards as
applicable in Pakistan. Approved accounting standards comprise of such International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) Issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS)
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan as are notified under the provisions of and directives issued
under the Banking Companies Ordinance (BCO), 1962, the Companies Act, 2017 and directives issued by the State Bank
of Pakistan (SBP) and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP). Whenever the requirements of the
BCO, 1962, Companies Acl, 2017 or the directives issued by the SBP and the SECP differ with the requirements of IFRS or
IFAS, requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the Compantes Act, 2017 and the said directives shall

prevail. The accounting and reporting standards comprise of:

1

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as
are notified under the Companies Act, 2017,

Isfamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) as
are nolified under the Companies Act, 2017,

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017; and

Directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

Whenever the requirements of e Companies Act, 2017 or the directives issued by the SBP and the SECP differ with the
requirements of the IFRS or IFAS, requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 and the said directives shall prevail.

The SBP through its BSD Circular letter No. 11 dated September 11, 2002 has deferred the implementation of IAS 40
‘fnvestment Property’ for Non-Banking Financial Institutions (NBFis) in Pakistan. Further, SECP has deferred the
implementation of IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' through SRO 411(1)/2008.

Standards, interpretation and amendments to publish accounting and reporting standards that are effective:

The following amendments are effective for the year ended December 31, 2023. These amendments and improvements are
either not relevant to the Company's operations or are not expected to have significant impact on the Company's financial
statements other than certain additional disclosures,
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Amendments to IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' - Disclosure of accounting policies

Amendments to IAS 8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors' - Definition of accounting
estimates. '

Amendments to 'lAS 12 Income Taxes' - deferred tax related to assets and kabilities arising from a single transaction.

Amendmenis to IAS 12 ' Income taxes' - International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules.

Standards, interpretation and amendments to publish accounting and reporting standards that are not yet
effective:

The following amendments are only effective for accounting periods, beginning on or after the date mentioned against each
of them. These amendments are either not relevant to the Company's operations or are not expected to have significant
impact on the Company's financial statements other than certain additional disclosures.

Effective from Accounting
period beginning on or after

- Amendments to IFRS 16 ' Leases' -Clarification on how seller-lessee subsequently January 01, 2024
measures sale and leaseback transactions

Amendments to IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' - Non-current liabilities January 01, 2024
with Convents along with Classification of lfabilities as current or non-current

Amendments to 1AS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows' and 'IFRS 7 'Financial instruments January 01, 2024
disclosures' - Supplier Finance Arrangements .

- Amendments to |AS 21 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates' - January 01, 2025
Clarification on how entity accounts when there is long term lack of Exchangeability

IFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts (including the June 2020 and December 2021 January 01, 2026
Amendments to iIFRS 17)

Other than the aforesaid amendments, the international Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has also issued the following
standard which has not been adopted locally by the Securities and Exchange Commiission of Pakistan:

- - IFRS 1 — First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan requires
management to make judgements, estimales and associated assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies
and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The judgements, estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experiences, current trends and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future period if the revision affects both current and future periods. The estimales and judgments that have a

significant effect on the financial staterents are in respect of the following:

- Classification and valuation of investments and impairment

Provision against non-performing advances including net investment In finance lease
- Provision against off - balance sheet obligations

- Non-banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claims

- Useful life of fixed and intangible assets, depreciation and amortisation

- Current and deferred taxation

- Accounting for defined benefit plan

- Contingencies and commitments
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3.2

4.1

4.2

4,2.1

4.2.2

e

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT & FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain investments and
defined benefit plan, which are revalued as referred to in notes 8 and 36.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Company operates. The financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Company's functional and

presentation currency,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are consistent with those of the previous
financial year except for those mentioned in note no 4.1.1.

Material accounting policy and financial risk management
Adoption of new forms for the preparation of condensed interim financial statements

During the period, the SBP, vide its BPRD Circular No. 02 dated February 09, 2023, issued the revised forms for the
preparation of financial statements of the Banks / DFls which are applicable for the pericds beginning on or after January
01, 2023 which was subsequently deferred to January 1, 2024. However, since the Company has early adopted IFRS 9, it
has early adopted the new format of the financial stalements. The implementation of the revised forms has resulled in
certain changes to the presentation and disclosures of various elements of the financial statements. Right of use assels
and corresponding lease liability are now presented separately on the face of the Statement of financial position. Previously
these were presented under property and equipment (previously tifled fixed assets) and other liabilities respectively. There
is no impacl of this change on the financial statements. ‘

The Company has adopted the above changes in the presentation and made additional disclosures to the extent applicable
to-its operations and corresponding figures have been rearranged / reclassified to correspond to the current period

presentation.

IFRS 9 - ‘Financial Instruments’

IFRS 9 brings fundamental changes to the accounting for financial assets and to certain aspects of accounting for financial
liabilities. To determine appropriate classification and measurement category, IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except
equily instruments to be assessed based on combination of the entity's business model for managing the assets and the
instruments' contractual cash flow characleristics. The adoption of IFRS 9 has also fundamentally changed the impairment
method of financial assets with a forward-looking Expected Credil Losses (ECL) approach.

Classification

Under IFRS 9, existing categories of financiat assets: Held for trading (HFT), Available for sale (AFS) and Held to maturity
{HTM) have been replaced by:

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss account (FVTPL)

Financial assefs at fair value through other comprehensive income (FYOCI)

“ Financial assels at amortised cost

Under IFRS 9, the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same as before adoption of IFRS 9 and thus all
financial liabilities are being carried at amortised cost. Financiai liabilities can also be designated at FVTPL where gains or

losses arising from entity's own credit rating risk relating to are required to be presented in other comprehensive income
with no reclassification to the profit or loss account, The Company did not have any financial liability measured at FVTPL.

Business model assessment

The Company determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to
achieve ils business objective.
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4.2.4

The Company's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated
portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:

The objectives for the porifolio, in particular, whether the management's strategy focuses on earning contractual
revenue, maintaining a particular yield profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the
liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;

How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated
and reported to the company's key management personnal;

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business modei)
and, in particular, the way those risks are managed; and

The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Company’'s assessment,
However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how
the Company's stated objective for managing the financial assets is achleved and how cash flows are realised.

The husiness model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking "worst case' or 'stress case’
scenarios into account. If cash flows after inilial recognition are reafised in a way that is different from the Company's
original expectations, the Company does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that
business model, but incorporates such information wher assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assels
going forward.

Eventually, the financial assets fall under elther of the following three business models:

i) Hold to Collect {HTC) Business Model: Holding assets in order to collect contractual cash flows
i) Hold to Collect and Selt (HTC&S) Business Model: Collecting contractual dash flows and sefling financial assets

iiiy Other Business Models: Resulting in classification of financial assets as FVTPL

Assessments whether confractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and profit {SPPI)

As a second step of its classification process the Company assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to identify
whether they meet the SPP! test. 'Principal' for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at
initial recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principat or
amortisation of the premium/discount), The most significant elements of profit within a financing arrangement are typicaily
the consideration for the time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPP{ assessment, the Company applies
judgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period
for which the profit rate is set. In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimise exposure to risks or
volatility in the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic financing arrangement do not give rise to contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and profit on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is

required to be measured at FVTPL.

Application to the Company's fihancial assets

Dabt based financial assets

Debt based financial assels held by the Company (including; advances, lending to financial institutions, investment in
federaf government securities, term finance certificates, other private sukuk, cash and balances with treasury Banks,
balances with other Banks, and other financial assets) are measured at amortised cost if they meet both of the following

conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
the assets are held within a business mode] whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and profit on the principal amount outstanding.

The Company's business model for these financial assets can siill be HTC even when saies of these financial assets occur.
However, if more than an infrequent number of sates or sale(s) of significant value are/is made, the Company assess
whether and how the sales are consistent with the HTC objeclive. This assessment include the reason(s) for the sales, the
expected frequency of sales, and whether the assets that are sold are held for an extended period of time relative to their

contractual maturities.




The aforementioned financial assets are measured at FVOCI only if these meet both of the following conditions and are not
designated as at FVTPL:

the asset are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and profit on the principal amount outstanding.

The aforementioned financial assets if held for trading purposes are classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOC! as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

The application of these policies also resulted in reclassifications and consequent remeasurements of certain amount of
invesiments in PIBs and T-bifls held under available for sale porifolio as of December 31, 2022 based on the business
model embodied In the Company's pool management practices. Moreover, the Company's investment in sukuk / TFC under
avaflable for sale portfolio as of December 31, 2022 have been reclassified as FVOCI since they do not pass the SPPI
criteria due to equity conversion features embedded in the terms of these sukuk / TFC. The following table reconciles their
carrying amounts as reported on December 31, 2022 to the carrying amounts under IFRS 9 on fransition to IFRS 8 on

January 01, 2023:
Balances as of

Balances as of Balances as of
December 31, ¢ FE8S  December3t, R PR
2022 (Audited) 2022 oL ¢
, {PKR '000) "
- Federal Government Securities - Al 13,735,102 FVOCI 13,735,102 - 13,735,102
- Non Government Sukuk - AFS 6,160,728 FVOCI 6,160,728 - 6,160,728

Equity based financial assets

An equity instrument held by the Company for trading purposes is classified as measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition of
an equity investment that Is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value in OCI, This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. The Company has decided to classify its
available for saie equity investment portfolio as of December 31, 2022 as FVOCI on irrevocable basis.

IFRS 8 has eliminated impairmeni assessment requirements for investments in equity instruments. However, unlisted
equity instruments are required to be measured at lower of cost or breakup value till December 31, 2023 under the SBP's
instructions. Accordingly the Company has reversed impairment of Rs. 73.460 million on listed equily investment held as at
Deacember 31, 2022 and the same has been transferred to deficit on revaluation of investments through remeasurements.

The measurement category and carrying amount of financial assets in accordance with the accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan before and after adoption of IFRS ¢ as at January 1, 2023 are compared as follows:

Before adoption of IFRS 9

FInanclal assets Me:;z;?::m 2?1:?;:? Measurement category cjg:::?:&?_‘;m
PKR '000 PKR '000
Cash and balances with treasury banks Loans and recejvables 154,022 amaortised cost 164,022
Balances with cther banks Loans and receivables 41,997 amortised cost 41,997
Lendings to financial institutions Loans and receivables - amortised cost -
Investments Held for trading 65,697 Fair value through profit or loss 65,697
Available for sale 20,907,577 Fggr;ﬁgi ;ﬁg‘ﬁ‘g?ﬂgg‘n‘:g 20,007,577
Held to maturity 116,741 amorlised cost 115,741
Advances l.oans and receivables 9,441,731 amorlised cost 9,441,731
Other assets (financlal assats only) Loans and receivables amoitised cost .
30,726,765 30,726,765
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Initiaf recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial fiabilities are recognised when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the -

instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade date, the date on which the
Company purchase or seli the asset. Other financial assets and liabilities like advances, lending to financial institutions,
deposits etc. are recognized when funds are transferred to the customers’ account or financial institutions. However, for
cases, where funds are transferred on deferred payment basis, recognition is done when underlying asset is purchased.
The Company will recognise due to customer and financial institution balances when these funds reach the Company.

Amortised cost

Financial assets and liabilities under amortised cost category are initially recognised at fair value adjusted for directly
attributable transaction cost. These are subsequently measured at amortised cost. An expected credit loss allowance (ECL)
is recognised for financial assets in the profit or loss. Interest income / expense on these assets / liabilities are recognised
in the profit or loss account. On derecognition of these financial assets and liabilities, capital gain / loss will be recognised in

the profit or loss account.

Fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets under FVOCI category are initially recognised at fair value adjusted for directly attributable transaction
cost. These assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes recorded in OCl. An expected credit loss
allowance (ECL) is recognised for these financial assets in the profit or loss account. Interest / dividend income on these
assels are recognised In the profit or loss account. On derecognition of these financial assets, capital gain / loss is

recognised in the other comprehensive income.
Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets under FVTPL category are initially recognised at fair value. Transaction costs are directly recorded in the
profit or loss. These assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes recorded in the profit or loss account.
Interest / dividend income on these assets are recognised in the profit or loss account. On derecognition of these financial
assets, capital gain / loss is recognised in the prafit or loss account. An expected credit loss allowance (ECL} is not

recognised for these financial assets,

The Company's revenue recognition policy is consistent with the annual financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2022,

Deracoghition
Financlal assets
The Company derecognises a financial asset when:

- the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either:
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred; or

the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not
retain control of the financial asset.

The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assefs. In these cases, the transferred assets

are not derecognised.

Financial liabilities

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelied, or expired. The
Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified tiability are
substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.
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4.2.8

4.2.9

4.2.10

4.2.11

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid
(including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilittes assumed) is recognised in the profit or loss account.

Maodification

The Company sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of financing to its customers. When
the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegoliated or otherwise modified and the renegotiation or modification
does not result in the derecognition of that financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9, the Company recalculate the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset and shall recognise a modification gain or loss in the profit or loss account. The gross
carrying amount of the financial asset shall be recalculated as the present value of the renegotiated or modified contractual
cash flows that are discounted at the financial asset's original effective profit rate (or credit-adjusted effective profit rate for
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets). Any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the
madified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset.

Off sefting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements when there
is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amount and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and to settle the liabilities simultanecusly.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Company becomes a party to the contractual

provision of the instrument. Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual right future cash flows from the asset
expires or is fransferred along-with the risk and reward of the asset. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when obligation
specific in the contract discharge, cance! or expire. Any gain or loss on dérecognition of the financial asset and liability is

recognised in the profit or loss account of the current year.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair value on the dafe on which the derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivative financial instruments are carried as asset when
fair value is posilive and liabilities when fair value is negative. Any change in the value of derivative financial instruments is

taken to the profit and loss account.

Qverview of the ECL principles

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL') associated with all advances and
other debt financial assets not held at FVTPL, together with [etter of credit, guarantees and unutilized financing
commitments hereinafier referred to as "Financial Instruments”. The Company recognises a loss allowance for such losses
at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL. reflects:

An unbiased and probability-weighted amdunt that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;

- The time value of money; and

Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit
loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since originalion, in which case, the allowance is
based on the 12 months' expected credit loss (12mECL) as outlined below.

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated at individual

customer {evel,



S Y

The Company has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each repoiting period, of whether a
financial instrument's credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of
default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. The Company considers an exposure to have
significantly increased in credit risk when there is considerable deterioration in the internal rating grade for subject
customer. The Company also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for an
asset, such as moving a customer / facility to the watch list, or the account becoming forborne, Regardless of the change in
credit grades, generally, the Company considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due. However, for cerlain portfolios, the Company may rebut 30 DPD presumption
based on behavioral analysis of its borrowers. When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, the
Company applies the similar principles for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial

recognition.

Based on the above process, the Company groups its financial instruments into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and purchased
or originated credit impaired (POCI), as described below:

When financial instruments are first recognised, the Company recognises an allowance based on
12mECLs. Stage 1 financial instruments also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and
they have been reclassified from Stage 2. The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that
represent the ECLs that result from defaull events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12
months after the reporling date. The Company calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the
expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months following the reporling date. These expected 12-
month defauit probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and
discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. This calculation is made for all the scenarios.

Stage 1:

When a financtal instrument has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Company
records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 also includes facilities, where the credit risk has improved
and the instrument has been reclagsified from Stage 3. The mechanics are similar to those explained
above, including the use of multiple scenarios, but PDs are applied over the lifelime of the instrument.
The expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR.

Stage 2:

Stage 3: For financial instruments considered credit-impaired, the Company recognises the lifetime expected credit
logses for these instruments. The Company uses a PD of 100% and LGD as computed for each portfolio
or as prescribed by the SBP under the prudential regulations which ever is higher.

POCH: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on
initial recognition, POC! assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and profit / rental is
subsequently recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognised or released to the
extent that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses.

When estimating LTECLs for undrawn financings commitments, the Company estimates the expected
portion of the financings commitment that will be drawn down over its expected life. The ECL is then
based on the present value of the expected shortfalls in cash flows If the financings is drawn down, based
on a probability-weighting of the three scenarios. For revolving facilities that include both a financings and
an undrawn commitment, ECLs are calculated and presented within other liabilities.

Undrawn
financing

The Company estimates ECLs based on the BASEL driven credit conversion factor (CCF) for Guarantee
and letter of credit contracts. The calculation is made using a probability-weighting of the three scenarios.
The ECLs related to guarantee and letter of credit contracts are recognised within other liability.

Guarantee and
letters of credit
contracts

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liabilities to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a

financial liability

The calculation of ECLs

The Company cafculates ECLs based on a three probability-welghted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls,
discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to a
Company in accordance with the confract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive.
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The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows;

Pl The Probability of Default is an estimate of the fikelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may only happen at a certain time
over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio. PD is estimated based on statistical
technique such as the Pluto and Tasche Madel of default, particularly for low default portfofios which are based on the Company's internal
risk ratings {i.e. from 1 to 12). PDs for Non advances portfafio, the Company has used PDs prescribed by Standard and Poor's (S&Ps)
against each risk rating. PDs are then adjusted using Vasicek Model for [FRS 9 ECL calculalions to incorporate forward looking

infermation.

EAD The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the exposure after
the reporing date, including repayments of principal and profit, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on
committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments. The maximum period for which the credit losses are determined Is the
contraclual life of a financial instrument unless the Company has the legal right to call it earlier. The Company’s product offering includes a
variety of corporate facilities, in which the Company has the right to cancef and / or reduce the facilities with one day nolice. However, in
case of revolving facilities, the Company does not limit its exposure to credit losses fo the contractual notice periad, but, instead calculates
ECL over a period that reflects the Company’s expectations of the customer behaviour, its likellhood of default and the Company’s future
risk mitigation procedures, which could include reducing or cancelling the facilities.

LGD The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is based on the difference
between the confractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from the realisation of any coilateral. i

is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD,

The discount rate used lo discount the ECLs is based on the effective profit rate that is expected to be charged over the expected period of
exposure to the facilities. In the absence of computation of the effective profit rate (at reporting date), the Company uses an approximation e.g.

contractual rate (at reporiing date).

To mitigats its credit risks on financial assets, the Company seeks to use collateral, where possible. The Company considers only those collalerats
as eligible collaterals in the EAD calculation which have the following characteristics:

- History of legal certainty and enforceability

- History of enforceability and recovery:
When eslimating the ECLs, the Company considers three scenarios (a base case, an upside, a downside). Each of these is associated with

different PDs. When relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios also incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including
the probabiiily that the leans will cure and the value of collateral or the amount that might be received for selling the asset.

Forward looking Information

Inits ECL models, the Company relies on a range of forward looking information as aconomic inputs, such as:

- GDP growth
- Consumer price index
= Unemployment rate

Refinition of default

The Company defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit impaired, when it meets one or more of
the following criteria:

The customer is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments.
Further the following criteria has been determined for assessment of default:

Tha Company makes a charge-off or account-specific provision resulting from a perceived decline in credit quality subsequent to the
Company taking on the exposure,

The Company sells the credit obligation at a material credit-related economic loss,

The Company consents to a distressed restructuring of the credit obligation where this is likely to resuit in a diminished financial obligation
caused by the material forgiveness, or postponement, of principal, interest or (wheve refevant) fees,

The Company has filed for the obYiger's bankruptcy or a similar arder in respect of the obliger's credit obfigation to the industry group, and
The obligor has sought or has been placed in Barkruptey or simifar protection where this would aveid or delay repayment of the credit
obligation to the industry group.

Write-offs

The Company’s accounting policy under IFRS 9 remains the same as it was under SBP regulations.
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Cash and cash equivalents

For the preparation of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash and balances with treasury banks and
halances with other banks excluding any term deposit with original terms of greater than three months.

Repurchase / resale agreements}

The Company enters into repurchase / resale agreements at contracted rates for a specified period of time. These are
recorded as under:

Sale under repurchase obligations

Securities sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repo) continue to be recognised
in the statement of financlal position and are measured in accordance with accounting policies for investments. Amounts
received under these agreements are recorded as repurchase agreement borrowings. The difference between sale and
repurchase price is amartised as expense over the term of the repurchase agreement.

Purchase under resale obligation

Securities purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repo} are not
recognised as Investments in the statement of financial position. Amounts paid under these arrangements are included in
repurchase agreement lendings. The difference between purchase and resale price is accrued as income over the term of

the resale agreement.

Fixed Assets

' Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress are stated at cost less impairment, if any. These are transferred to specific assets as and when
assets become available for use.

Property and equipment - owned

Operating fixed assets except capital work in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
loss, if any. Depreciation Is charged to profit and loss account on straight line basis so as to write-off the assets over their
expected economic lives at the rates specified in note 10.1 to these financial statements. The depreciation charge for the
year is calculated after taking into account residual value, if any. The residual values, useful fives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date. Full month depreciation is charged in the month the
assets are available for use and no depreclation is charged in the month of disposal.

Operating fixed assets transferred from non-Banking assets are recognized at fair value as at the date of transfer which is
deemed to be the cost of that asset. Any surplus available on the date of transfer is reclassified to unappropriated profils

through equity on the transfer date.

Normal repairs and maintenance are charged to profit and loss account as and when incurred. Subsequent expendlture is
capitalised only when it increases the future economlc benefits embodied in operating fixed assets.

Gains and losses on disposal of assets are included in profit and loss account. The Company reviews the rate of
depreciation / useful life, residual values and value of assets for possible impairment on an annual basis. Any change in
the estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of operating fixed assets with a

corresponding effect on depreciation charge and impairment.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets having a finite useful life are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment fosses, if any.
Intangible assets are amortised from the month when these are available for use, using the straight line method, whereby
the cost of an intangible asset is amortised over the period which takes into account the economic benefits that will be
available to the Company. The residual value, useful life and amortisation method is reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,

at each reporting date.
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4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

Nan-banking assets acquired in satisfaction of claims

Non-banking assets acquired in salisfaclion of claims are initially measured at settlement amount and upon revaluation,
are carried at revalued amounts less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. These assets are revalued as per
SBP's requirement by independent professionally qualified valuers to ensure thal their net carrying value does not differ
materially from their fair value. A surplus arising on revaluation of property is credited to the "surplus on revaluation of fixed
assets' account and any deficit arising on revaluation is taken to profit and loss account directly. Legat fees, transfer costs
and direct costs of acquiring title of property is charged to profit and loss account and not capitalised.

Borrowings and deposits

Borrowings and -deposits are recorded at the amount of proceeds received. Mark-up on borrowings and deposits are
charged to profit and loss account on a time proportion basfs.

Staff retirement benefit

Defined benefit plan

The Company operates an approved funded gratuity scheme for all its permanent employees who have completed the
qualifying period under the scheme. The scheme is administered by a Board of Trustees and contributions therein are
made in accordance with the actuarial recommendations. The valuation in this regard is carried out at each reporting date,
using the Projected Unit Credit Method for the valuation of the scheme.

Graluity is payable to staff on completion of two years of service.

Past service cost is the change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from a plan amendment or
curtailment. The Company recognises past service cost as an expense al the earlier of the foilowing dates:

a) when the plan amendment or cuntailment occurs; or
b) and when the Company recognises related restructuring costs or termination benefits,

The Company has adopted certain actuarial assumptions as disclosed in the note 34.3 for valuation of defined benefit
obligation and fair value of plan assels, based on actuarial advice.

Defined contribution plan

The Company operates a recognised provident fund scheme for its employees. Equal monthly contributions are made,
both by the Company and the employees, to the fund at the rate of 10% of the basic salary.

Employees' compensated absences

Employees' entitlement to annual leave is recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by the employee against un-availed leaves upte the reporting

date.
Foreign currencies

Transaction and balances in foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Pakistan Rupees at the exchange rates prevailing
at the reporting date. Foreign currency transactions during the year are recorded at the rates prevailing on the date of

transaction.

Transiation gains and losses

Exchange gains and losses are included in profit and foss account,
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4.12

4.13

Revenue recognition

Mark-up / return / interest income is recognised on accrual basis taking into account effective yield on the asset, except
where recovery is considered doubtful, the income is recognised on receipt basis. interest / return / mark-up on
rescheduled / restructured advances and investments is recognised as permitted by the Prudential Regulations tssued by

~the SBP.

A gain / loss on sale of securities is recognised in profit and loss account at the time of saie of relevant securities.

The surplus / deficit arising on revaluation of the Company's FVTPL investment portfolio is taken to the profit and loss
account,

- Premium or discount on acquisition of investments is capitalised and amortised through the profit and loss account over

the remaining period through effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the Company's right to receive the dividend is established.

~Fee, commission and brokerage income is recognised as the services are rendered.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprises cuirent and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit and loss account
except to the extent that it relates to the items recognised directiy in equity or surplus on revaluation of assets, in which
case it is recognised in equity or surplus on revaluation of assets,

Current

Provision for current taxation is based on the taxable income at the current rates of taxation after taking into account
available tax credit and rebates, if any. The charge for current tax also includes adjustments, where considered necessary
relating to prior years, which arises from assessments /developments made during the year, The charge for current tax is
caleulated using prevailing tax rates enacted at the reporling date and, any adjustments to tax payable relating to prior

years.

in making the estimates for income taxes currently payable by the Company, the management considers the current
income tax laws and the decisions of appellate authoritles on certain issues in the past. In making the provisions for

deferred taxes, estimates of the Company's future taxable profits are also taken into account.

Deferred

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability methad on all temporary differences between the amounts attributed to the
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for taxation purpose, Deferred tax is measured at
the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only o the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits would be avaitable against
which it can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting dale and are reduced to the extent that it is not probable that related
tax benefits will be realised.

QOther provisions

Other provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be required to setlle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted to reflect the

current best estimate,
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4.18

4.20

4.20.1

4,21

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Company hecomes a party to the contractual
provision of the instrument. Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual right future cash flows from the assel
expires or Is transferred along with the risk and reward of the asset. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when obligation
specific in the contract discharge, cancel or expire. Any gain or [oss on derecognition of the financial asset and liability is

recognised in the profit or loss account of the current year.
Detivative financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivative financial instruments are carried as asset when
fair value is positive and liabllities when fair value is negative. Any change in the value of derivative financial instruments is

taken to the profit and loss account.

Dividend distribution

Dividend and appropriation to reserves, except appropriation which is required by the law after the reporting date, is
recognised as liability in the Company's financial statements In the period in which these are approved.

Earnings per share

The Company presents earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

during the year.

Segment reporting

A segment Is distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is
subject to riske and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The Companys primary format of reporting is

based on business segments.

Business segments
Following are the main segments of the Company:

Corporate finance and It includes loans, advances, leases and other lransactions with corporate customers. Further, it
commercial banking undertakes advisory services including mergers and acquisitions, listed debt syndication,
trustee activities and other investment banking activities.

Trading & Sales (other Undeftakes Company's fund management activities through leveraging and investing in liquid
than Capital Market) assets such as short term placements, government securities and reverse repo activities. It
carries out spread based activities in the inter bank market and manages the interest rate risk

exposure of the Company.

Capital Market Includes trading in listed securities with a view to trade and earn the benefit of market
fluctuations and to hold securities for dividend income and capital gains.

Geographical segments
The Company operates only in Pakistan.

Statutory reserve

Every Bank / DFl incorporated in Pakistan is required to transfer 20% of its profit to a slatutory reserve until the reserve eqe
thereafter 5% of the profit of the DF| is to be transferred to this reserve.
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5.2

2023 2022

CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY Note =~ ==eemeeee- {Rupees in '600) ~---n-----
BANKS
in hand
Local currency - 50
Foreign currencies 6,138 4779
6,138 4,829
With State Bank of Pakistan in
Local currency current account 5.1 151,715 148,457
With National Bank of Pakistan in
Local currency current account ) 17 17
Local currency deposit account 5.2 798 719
815 736
158,668 154,022
Less: Credit loss allowance held against cash and balances with
treasury banks : ) )
Cash and balances with treasury banks - net of credit ioss 158,668 154,022

allowance

This represents current account maintained for minimum cash reserve required to be maintained with the State Bank of
Pakistan in accordance with its requiremenis of BSD Circular No. 04 dated May 22, 2004,

This carries mark-up at the rate 20.50% per annum (2022: 14.50%).

2023 2022
BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS Note —  ==eemesee (Rupees in "000) ~--mememm-
In Pakistan

in current accounts 119,259 20,847
In deposit accounts 6.1 176,994 21,180
) 296,253 41,987

Less: Credit loss allowance held against balances with other banks (134) -
296,119 41,997

Balances with other banks - net of credit loss allowance

These deposit accounts carry annual mark-up rate of 6.75% to 20.50% (2022: 6.75% to 14.50%).
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7.241

7.2.2

Investments given as collateral

Market Treasury Biils

Carrying value - before revaluation
Deficit

Pakistan Investment Bonds

Carrying value - before revaluation
Deficit

Shares

Carrying value - before revaluation
Impairment
Deficit

2023

2022

(Rupees in '000) ~m--rm-mmn

116,362 358,059

44 (1,370)
116,406 356,689
10,197,913 7,188,905
(15,291) (28,526)
10,182,622 7,160,380
85,670 86,777

- (23,110)

13,867 (3,251)
99,537 60,416

Above debt securities are pledged against the repurchase borrowings, while shares are pledged with National Clearing

Company Pakistan Limited (NCCPL) against ready market exposure.

Credit loss allowance for diminution in value of investments

Qpening balance
Impact of Adoption of [FRS 9

Charge / reversals

Charge for the year
Reversals for the year
Reversal on disposals

Closing Balance

2023 2022
---------- (Rupees in '000) »--s-namue

39,31 37,322
2,641

11,927 1,989
(2,162) -
8,765 32,469

51,717 39,311
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l 7.3.1

j 7.3.2

7.3.3

e

Particlurs of credit [oss allowance

Investments - exposure -

Qpening balance

New investments

Investments derecagnised or repaid
Transfer to stage 1
Transfer to stage 2
Transfer lo stage 3

Amounts written off f charged Off
Other changes (to be specific)
Closing balance

Investments - Credit loss aflowance

Gross carrying amount - Currant year
tmpact of Adoption of IFRS 9

MNew investments

Investments derecognised or repald
Transfer to stage 1
Transfer to stage 2
Transfer to stage 3

Amounts written off f charged off

Changes in risk parameters (PDs/LGDs/EADs)

Closing balance - Current year

Particulars of credit loss allowance against debt securitles

Domestic
Performing
Underperforming
Non-Performing

Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

Total

Overseas
Parforming
Underperforming
Non-Performing

Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

Total

Sfage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

2023 2022
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
---------- (Rupees in "000) «-vememme- «wme—-—--- (Rupees in ‘000) ----------
21,430,443 - 43,290 - -
11,872,492 - - - - _
{10,776,178) - (2,167) - - -
1,008,314 - {2,167) - . .
{73,465) - - - - -
22,453,292 - 41,123 21,430,443 - 43,290
2023
Staga 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Rupees in ‘000 Rupees in '000
- - 39,311 - - 37,322
2,641 - - . . .
47 - - - 1,989
- - {2,162) - . -
47 - {2,162 - - 1,989
11,880 - - - - ~
14,568 - 37,149 - - 39,311
2023 2022
Credit loss Credit loss
Qutstanding allowance Outstanding  allowance
amount held amount held
Rupees in '000
21,798,888 10,594 20,029,278 -
41,123 41,123 43,290 39,311
41,123 41,123 43,290 38,311
21,840,011 51,717 20,072 568 39,311
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7.3.4

7.4

7.4.1

7.4.2

Particulars of provision against non-performing investments {NPI) - debt securities

2023 2022
Category of classification NPI Provision NPI Provision
e (Rupees in '000) --+wreemrassmarasaarn
Domestic
Other assets especially mentioned - - - -
Substandard - - - -
Doubtful - - - -
Loss 41,123 41,123 43,290 39,311
41,123 41,123 43,290 39,311
Quality of securities
Details regarding quality of securities held under "Held to Collect and Sell* model
Cost
2023 2022
Note -eceeeeees (Rupees in "000) ---n-nx-m-
Federal Government Securities - Government guaranteed
Market Treasury Bills 7.6 1,705,579 1,438,782
Pakistan Investment Bonds 7.7 14,211,722 12,330,380
15,917,301 13,769,162
Shares
Listed Companies
- Commerciat Banks 296,236 456,798
- Textile Composite 44,866 166,320
- Power Generation and Distribution 31,854 187,499
- Qil and Gas Exploration Companies 90,786 139,398
- Fertilizer 3,738 97,251
- Qil and Gas Marketing Companies 26,445 119,945
- Fixed Line Telecommunication 36,181 35,051
- Insurance 25,351 31,220
- Miscellanecus 5,370 30,418
- Refinery 5,700 29,242
- Chemicals 27,609 27,609
- Automobile Parts and Accessories 3,873 21,834
- Engineering 10,310 20,156
- Automobile Assembler 3,160 16,211
- Household Goods - 13,998
- Pharmacuticals 8,257 13,680
- Industrial Transportation - 6,072
- Food Praducers - 5,041
- Industrial Metals and Mining - 4,399
- Cement 34,678 5,957
- Financial Services - 2,966
654,404 1,401,165




7.4.3

7.4.3.1

7.43.2

7.5

7.5.1

7.6

Non Government Debt Securities

Cost
2023 2022
---------- {Rupees in '000) ----------
Listed Term Finance Certificates (TFC) and Sukkuk Certificates
AAA - -
AA+, AA, AA- 1,432,627 1,133,113
A+ A A- 1,388,554 1,560,194
BBB+, BBB, BBB- - -
BB+, BB, BB- - -
B+, B, B- - -
CCC and below - -
Unrated 11,245 11,245
2,532,426 2,704,552
Unlisted Term Finance Certificates (TFC) and Sukkuk Certificates
AAA 299,400 298,520
AAT AA, AA- 1,273,332 1,443,960
A+ A A- 1,297,461 1,197,194
BBB+, BBB, BBB- 90,000 110,000
BB+, BB, BB- 400,214 400,398
B+| Br B' - -
CCC and below . -
Unrated 29,877 32,043
3,390,284 3,483,113
Cost
2023 2022
---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------
Particulars relating to securities classified Under "Held to Collect” modei:
Nen Government Debt Securities - Unlisted - Commercial papers
A1 7.5.1 - 115,741
A-2 - -
A-2 - -
- 115,741

The market value of securities classified as held-to-Collect as at 31 December 2023 amounted to Nil (2022: PKR 115.741
milllon). These carry profit rate of Nil (2022: 18.97% per annum) and are due for maturity on Ni (2022: 08 June 2023).

Market treasury bills carry yield ranging from 21.43% to 22.99% (2022: 12.70% to 16.74%) per annum with malurities
upto 12 December 2024 (2022: 21 April 2023).

The investments in Pakistan Investment Bonds are maturing upto 22 Qctober 2030 (2022; 22 Qctober 2030) and the
effective yield ranges from 7.33% to 23.90% (2022: 7.33% to 16.83%) per annum.
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The gross cost and sale proceeds of disposals / write-offs:

Asset

Equipment

Mobile Phone (Samsung A-31}
Mobile Phone (Samsung A-31)
Mobile Phone (Samsung A-12)
Mobile Phone (Red Mi Note 10 Pro}
Mobile Phone (Samsung A-32)
Mobile Phone (Samsung A-32})
iMobile Phone {Samsung A-72)
Mobile Phone (Iphone 11 128gb)
Mohile Phone (fphone XR)
Mobile Phene (Iphone 13)
Mobile Phone {Redmi Note 11)
Mabile Phone (Redmi Note 11}
Laptop (Dell Latitude 5580}
Laptop {Dell Latitude 5590)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer softwaras and Hcenses
Capital work in progress

Purchaser

Cost Book Sale price
value
{RUPBES) —nerrmemscnsmsmmamaianans
35,000 -
35,000 -
35,000 -
45,000 -
36,000 -
36,000 -
50,000 18,750 18,750
55,000 16,042 16,042
55,000 -
65,000 -
35,000 20,417 18,958
35,000 27,708 32,083
106,914 5,346
164,000 - 8,200
775,914 82,917 99,379
Note
10.2
10.1

Mr. Fahad Zakaullah - Employee
Mr. Muhammad Asad - Employee
Mr. Wasim Raja - Employee

Mr. Zeeshan Rauf - Employee
Mr. Tahir Habib - Employee

Mr. Tariq Memon - Employee

Mr. Habib Ameer Ali - Employee
Mr. Salman Raza - Employee

Mr. Khurram Faiziab - Employes
Mr. Ahmed Bital Darr - Employee
Mr. Zeeshan ur Rahman - Employee
Ms, Aisha Mansoor - Employee
Mr. Habib Ameer Ali - Employee
Mr. Salman Raza - Employes

Computer software

2023 2022
---------- (Rupees in '000) =-=ermnms

465 230
8,768 4,972

9,223 5,202

The amount represents payments being made to a software company for the software being implemented by the Company.

Computer Softwares and Licenses

At 01 January

Cost

Less: Accumulated amortisation
Net book value

Year ended 31 December

Qpening net book value
Additions - Directly purchased
Disposals

Less: Amortisation charge
Closing nat book value

At 31 December

Cost
Less: Accumulated amortisation

Net book value

Rate of amortisation {percentage)

The gross cost of fully amortised assets still in use is as follows;

Software Licenses

19,860 19,540
{19,630) (19,512)
230 28
230 28
397 320
(162) (118)
486 230
20,257 19,860
{19,792) (19,630}
466 230
33% 33%
2023 2022
---------- (Rupees In '000) ~---en-vmv
19,588 19,588

The amount represents fully depreciated sofwares being used by the Company i.e. IPAMS, HCM, GL-SHMA, FA-SHMA,
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Defarrad tax asset - net

Deferred tax assef

Deductibfe Temporary Differsnces on

- Provision against advances, off balance sheet, etc.

- Lease liability against right-of-use assets
- Lease assets

- Deficit on revaluation of investments - net
- Cthers

Taxable Temporary Differences on

- Surplus on revaluation of investments - net
- Post retirement employee henefits

- Surplus on revaluation of non-banking asset
- Right-of-use assels - net

- Transfer of surplus on Non-Banking Assets to Fixed Assels

- Accelerated tax depreciation

2023 2022
---------- {Rupees in '000) -e--eseee
441,163 458,493
2023
At 01 Recognised Recognised In At 31
January In profit and other December 2023
2023 loss account comprehensive
iincome
{Rupeas in 000) -
513,833 (106,351} - 407,482
{9,908) 61,207 - 51,301
2,710 - {2,710) -
81 2,734 - 2,815
508,718 {42,410) (2,710} 461,598
- - {16,279) (16,279)
1,142 - (3,788) (2,844)
(49,367) 47,855 - {1,612)
{48,225) 47,865 {20,065) (20,438)
458,493 5,445 (22,775) 441,163

Deferred tax asset of Rs. 249.3 millian has not been recorded, which pertains to provision for non-performing loans & impariment
provision, due to uncertainty of reversal of provision to recover the benefit. Further, the company has charged deferred tax at the
rate of 20% instead of 39% due to its realisibillity that deferred tax would be recovered in future.

Deductible Temporary Differences on

- Provision against advances, off balance sheet, etc.

- Lease liability against right-of-use assets
- Post retirement employee benefits

- Deficit on revaluation of investments - net
- Others

Taxable Temporary Differences on

- Surplus on revaluation of investments - net
- Post retirement employee benefits

- Surplus on revaluation of non-banking asset
- Right-of-use assets - net

- Transfer of surplus on Non-Banking Assets to Fixed Assets

- Accelerated tax depreciation
- Lease assets

2022
At 01 January Recognised  Recognised in At 31 December
2022 in profit and other 2022
foss account  comprehensive
income
{Rupees in 000)
508,578 7,255 - 513,833
1,369 (1,369) - -
- 1,142 1,142
- - 2,710 2,710
1,631 (1,550} - 81
509,578 4,336 3,852 517,766
(11,594) - 11,584 -
(1,679) - 1,679 -
{12,893} - 12,893 -
(2,364) 2,364 - -
(8,583} {6,075) {34,709) (49,367)
(10,993) 1,087 - {9,908)
{48,106) {2,624) (8,543) (59,273)
461,472 1,712 (4,691) 458,493
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2023 2022

Note ======---- (Rupees In "000) -«-ssseae

OTHER ASSETS
Income / mark-up accrued in local currency - net of provision 12.3 1,063,613 636,487
Advances, advance rent and other prepayments 30,7562 105,831
639,234 334,442

Advance taxation (payments less provisions)

Non-banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claims 121 & 12.2 -
34.4 12,629 -

Receivable from defined benefits plan

Dividend receivable 150 150

Security deposits 1,683 1,683
1,747,961 1,078,493

Less: Provision held against other assets - -

Other assets (net of provision) . 1,747,961 1,078,493

Surplus on revaluation of non-banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claims - -
1,747,961 1,078,493

Other Assets - total

Market value of non-banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claims - 199,500

Non-banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claims was revalued by independent professional valuer as of January 18, 2023 (fult
scope). The revaluation was carried out by M/s K.G. Traders (Private) Limited on the basis of an assessment of present market
values. The assets has been transferred to the Operating Fixed Assets at revalued amount to be carried at the Cost Model,

2023 2022
Non-banking asset acquired in satisfaction of¢clalm e (Rupees in '000) «wsanaseen
Opening balance - 124,582
+ Revaluation during the year - 81,561
Less: Depreciation for the year - (8,643}
Less: Transfered to Fixed Assets - {199,500)

Closing balance

Provision held against othet assets

Mark-up suspended amounting te Rs. 2,191.¢ million (2022 Rs. 1,769.26 milfion) included in provision against other asset, has
been netted off against the markup receivable amount.

BORROWINGS
Details of borrowlngs secured / unsecured 2023 2022
Note  ===eeemeen {Rupees in '000) --ssseeee-
Secured
Borrowings from State Bank of Pakistan- Under financing facility
“imported & Locally Manufactured Plant & Machinery (LTFF) 13.1 1,627,964 1,825,320
“Renewable Energy Facility (REF) 13.2 581,999 641,196
“Temporary Economic Refinance Facility (TERF) 13.3 1,201,748 1,138,983
“-Financing Facility for Storage of Agricufture Produce (FFSAF) 134 427,302 174,168
3,739,003 3,779,667
Borrowings from State Bank of Pakistan - open market operation 13.5 8,900,000 7,300,000
Total Borrowings from State Bank of Pakistan 12,639,003 11,079,667
Repurchase agreement borrowings 13.5 1,672,437 356,450
Term borrowings 13.6 3,677,778 4,900,000
Total Secured 17,789,218 16,336,117
Unsecured - -
Call horrowings 13.7 4,000,600 4,000,000
4,000,000 4,000,000

Tota! Unsecured

21,789,218 20,336,117




13.1

13.2

13.3

13.4

13.56

13.6

13.7

13.8

14,

14.1

14.2

14.3

The Company has obtained funds from the SBP for extending Long Term Financing Facility (LTFF} for lmported & Locally
Manufactured Plant & Machinery. These borrowings carry mark-up rale of 2.0% to 156% per annum (2022: 2.0% to 7.0%). These

borrowings will mature by 2033 (2022: 2032).

The Company has obtained funds from the SBP for extending financing facility for renewable energy facility (REF). These
borrowings carry mark-up rate of 2.0% to 3% per annum (2022: 2.0% to 3.0%). These borrowings will mature by 2034 (2022: 2034).

The Company has obtained funds from the SBP for extending Temporary Economic Refinance Facility {TERF) for economic relief,
These borrowings carry mark-up rate of 1.0% per annum (2022: 1%,). These borrowings will mature by 2032 (2022: 2032).

The Company has obtained funds from the SBP for extending Financing Facility for Storage of Agriculiurat Produce {(FFSAP) for
economic relief, These borrowings carry mark-up rate of 2.0% to 2.50% per annum (2022 2.0%). These borrowings wifl mature by

2030 (2022: 2029).

These carry mark-up at the rates ranging from 22,10% to 22.30% per annum (2022: 15.25% to 16.25% per annum) and are secured
against government securities having carrying amount of Rs. 10.314 billion & market value of Rs. 10.299 billion {2022: carrying
value Rs, 7.547 billion & market value of Rs. 7.517 billion}. These borrowings will mature up to January 2024 (2022: March 2023).

These represent finances obtained from Allied Bank Limited to finance regular business operations of the Company. These finances
are secured against pledge of all present and future movable assets (excluding investments). It carries mark up at the rate of 8
meonths KIBOR +0.10 to 0.25% per annum. These are repayable in semi annual instaliments and shall be repaid by 2027. Tofal

available facility is Rs. 6 bifiion,

These represent clean finances obtained by the Company, These carry mark up at the rates of 22.10% (2022: 16.20% to 16.25%
per annum. These borrowings will mature up to January 2024 (2022: January 2023).

2023 2022
---------- (Rupees in '000) «-ee-enuex
Particulars of borrowings with respect to Currencies

21,789,218 20,336,117

In local )
In foreign currencies

21,789,218 20,336,117

DEPOSITS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

2023 2022
Note Iniocal In foreign Total In locat {n foreign Total
currency  currencles currency currencies

{Rupees In "000) -- -

Customers

Term deposits 14,2 1,383,726 - 1,383,726 791,213 - 791,213
Financial Institutions
Term deposils 14.3 1,340,746 - 1,340,746 980,397 - 980,397
2,724,472 - 2,724,472 1,771,610 - 1,771,610
2023 2022

Compaosition of deposits Note seeeevenes (Rupees in "Q00} --=---=---
- Individuals 14.4 535,704 331,491

- Public Sector Entities - -
- Non-Banking Financial Institution (related party) 1,340,746 980,397
848,022 459,722

- Private Sector

2,724,472 1,771,610

The mark-up rates on these certificate of investments {COl) range between 20.00% to 22.50% per anrum (2022: 11.75% to 16.50%
per annum). These COls will mature up to December 2024 (2022: December 2023).

The mark-up rates on these certificate of investments (COLl) is 21.30% to 22.35% per annum (2022:15.35% to 16.35% per annum),
These COIls will mature up to March 2024 (2022 March 2023).
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These includes both interest bearing and non-interest bearing certificate of investments (COIl) fssued to the employees of the
Company maturing up to November 2026 {2022: July 2025). The interest bearing deposits carey interest rates ranging between
20.0% to 22.50% per annum (2022: 14.55% to 16.50% per annum).

OTHER LIABILITIES

Mark-up / return / interest payable in local currency

Accrued expenses

Payable to defined benefit plan
Provision for compensated absences
Payable to an associated undertaking
Government levies payable

Provision for audit fee

Advance insurance premium on lease
Security deposits against finance lease
Payable Brokerage f NCCPL

Provision for staff rewards

Lease liahility against right-of-use assets

SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised capital
2023 2022
---- (Number of shares) «----

1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 Crdinary shares of Rs. 10 each

Issuad, subscribed and pald-up share capital

600,000,000

600,000,000 Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each and fully paid in cash

Major shareholders {holding more than 5§% of total paid-up capital)

Name of shareholder
Government of Pakistan *

Iran Foreign Investment Company *

2023 2022
Note ~  merevemaen (Rupees in '000) »uerm--m-
442,759 280,997
63,971 24,582
34.4 - 7.874
4,804 -
12,743 10,721
53,074 107,431
2,018 1,468
758 613
642,616 393,191
3,873 -
120,466 33,391
1,347,042 860,269
2023 2,022
---------- (Rupees in "000) ~-----+---
10,000,000 10,000,000
6,000,000 6,000,000
2023 2022
Number of Percentage Number of Percentage of
shares held of shares held shareholding
300,000,000 50% 300,000,000 50%
300,000,000 §0% 300,000,000 50%
600,000,000 100% 600,000,000 100%

This includes nominal shares allofted to the nominee Directors of the Company nominated by Government of Pakistan and Iran

Foreign Investment Company.

RESERVES

Statutory reserve
Opening balance
Transfer during the year

Closing balance

2023 2022
---------- (Rupees in '000) -----rev
1,003,746 1,004,551
153,750 89,195
1,247,496 1,093,746
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18.

18.1

19,

19.1

19.2

19.3

According to BPD Circular No. 15 dated 31 May 2004 issued by SBP, an amount not less than 20% of the after tax profits
shall be transferred to create a reserve fund till such time the reserve fund equals the amount of the paid-up capital and
after that a sum not less than 5% of profit after tax shall be credited to the statutory reserve,

Note
SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF ASSETS

Surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of

2023

2022

---------- (Rupees in '600) -«worraaes

- Securities measured at FVOCI - Debt 7.1 25,828 {21,686)
- Securities measured at FVOCI - Equity 177,858 (249,521)
203,686 (271,207)
Deferred tax on surplus / {deficit} on revaluation of.
- Securities measured at FVOCI - Debt 6,474 2,710
- Securities measured at FVOCI - Equity (22,232) -
(15,758} 2,710
incremental depreciafion charged during the year “ -
187,928 (268,497)
Surplus on revaluation of a non-banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claim
Surplus on revaluation as of 01 January - 48,0684
Revaluation during the year - 81,561
Realised on transfer during the year - {129,625)
Less: related deferred tax liability on:
- revaluation as at January 1 - (16,846)
- revaluation recognised during the year - (19,352)
- surplus realised on disposal during the year - 42,006
- Incremental depreciation as of December 31 - (5,808)
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
-Commitments 19.1-19.4 11,157,437 8,214,853
-Other contingent liabilities 19.5 245,280 245,280
11,402,717 8,460,133
Commitments in respect of repo transactions
Repurchase agreement borrowings 10,472,437 7,666,450
985,000 224,565

Direct credit substitutes

The amount represents Standby Letter of Credit and Letter of Comfort facilities issued to the Company's clients in its

normal course of business.

Commitments to extend credit

The Company makes commilments to extend credit in the normal course of its business but these being revocable
commitments do not altract any significant penalty or expense if the facility is unilaterally withdrawn.




19.4

19.5

19.5

19.5.2

19.5.3

19.5.4

19.6.5

20.

A

Y

Capital commitments

At the year end capital commitments amounted to Rs. 685 million (2022: 558.40 million).

Other contingent liabilities

With respect to tax year 2009, 2011, 2012 & 2013 ADCIR amended assessment under Section 122(5A) of the Ordinance.
The ACIR passed order under Section 122(5A) raising demand amounting to Rs. 23.3 million, Rs. 57.6 million,Rs. 32.152
million & Rs. 45.219 million respectively. The Company filed appeals against the order before the CIR(A). The CIR(A)
upheld the order of ACIR. The Company, then filed appeals before the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) in
respect of the orders passed by the CIR(A). The appeal is pending before ATIR. The Company, in consultation with its tax
advisor, is confident of a favourable outcome.

The Additional Commissioner Inland Revenue (ADCIR) amended the assessments for tax year 2015 and raised demand
of Rs. 80.433 million which was later revised to Rs. 87.014 million. The demand was challenged by the Company by filing
an appeal with the CIR(A). However, on confirmation of the demand order by CIR(A) the Company filed an appeal before
the ATIR and made payment of Rs. 17.5 million under protest. The ATIR through its order dated 24 November 2016
deleted the demand and directed the department to work out the liability of WWF in the light of Supreme Court’'s order.
Consequently, the tax department filed a reference in High Court, dated 16 February 2017, which is yet to be admitted for
hearing. Moreover, certain issues were remanded back by the ATIR under the aforementioned order against which relief
has been allowed by the CIR(A) however, appeal effect order is pending. The company in consultation with its tax advisor,

is confident of a favorable outcome.

With respect to tax year 2016, ADCIR amended the assessment and demand amounting to Rs. 52.049 million was
created. The Company admitted tax imposed on commission income amounting to Rs. 1.031 million, which was paid and
on other issues filed appeal to CIR(A) against ADCIR order. The CIR(A) passed order and decided the appeal and
allowed partial relief. Order to the extent of apportionment of Finance Cost was confirmed by CIR(A). An appeal effect
order under section 124 of the Ordinance s required to be passed for the relief allowed by CIR(A). The company and the
departemnt has filed appeals before the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) on the issue decided against it. The
demand of Rs. 52.049 million was created which was paid by the company under protest.The company in consultation
with its tax advisor, is confident of a favorable outcome.

With respect to tax year 2017, ADCIR amended the assessment and demand amounting to Rs. 46,351 million was
created. The Company paid the demand / adjusted the refund under protest and filed appeal against order before CIR(A).
The CIR(A) passed order and has decided the appeal and allowed partial relief and accepted contention except on
apportionment of markup expenses. An appeal effect order under Section 124 of the Ordinance is required to be passed
for the relief allowed by CIR(A). Moreover, both the Company and the department have filed appeals before the ATIR on
the issues decided against them. The appeal is awaited to be heard. The issue is pending before ATIR. The company in
consultation with its tax advisor, is confident of a favorable outcome.

With respect to tax year 2018, ADCIR amended the assessment under Section 122(5A) of the Ordinance. The ACIR has
passed order under Section 122(5A) reducing the refund amounting to Rs. 17.962 million. The Company filed an appeal
against the order before the CIR(A). The CIR(A) passed order and has decided the appeal and allowed partial relief and
accepted our contention except on apportionment of markup expenses. An appeal effect order under Section 124 of the
Ordinance is required to be passed for the relief allowed by CIR(A). The company has filed an appeal before ATIR. The
apeal is pending for hearing. The company in consultation with its tax advisor, is confident of a favorable outcome.

OFF BALANCE SHEET FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Off balance sheet financial instruments includes derivatives, contracts the characteristics of which are derived from those
of underlying assets. These include forwards and swaps in money and foreign exchange markets. The Company's
exposure in these instruments represents equily futures. The Company also enters into repo transactions against
government securities carrying fixed interest rates and having fixed contractual maturities. The credit risk associated with

repo transactions is secured through underlying government securities.




DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company at present doses not offer structured derivative products such as interest rate swaps, forward rate swaps,
forward rate agreements or forward exchange options. However, the Company buys and sells derivative instruments such

as equity futures,

Equity futures

An equity futures contract is a standardized contract, traded on a futures countsr of the stock exchange, to buy or sell a
certain underlying scrip at a certain date in the future, at a specified price.

The Company uses equity futures as a hedging instrument to hedge its equity portfolio against equity price risk. Only
selected shares are allowed to be traded on futures exchange. Equity fulures give flexibility to the Company either to take
delivery on the future settiement date or to settle it by adjusting the notional value of the contract based on the current

market rates,

Maximum exposure limit to the equity futures Is 10% of Tier 1 capital of the Company, based on prevailing SBP
regulations. There is no outstanding future contract as at December 31, 2023

22,

23,

24,

25,

2023 2022
Note wom-mneee {Rupees in '000) =---------
MARK-UP / RETURN / INTEREST EARNED
Loans and advances 1,427,362 699,883
Investments 4,436,887 2,537,275
Lendings to financial Instruments : 538 895
Balances with banks 3,692 5,609
5,868,479 3,243,562
MARK-UP / RETURN / INTEREST EXPENSED
Deposits 498,081 182,651
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 227,068 288,457
On borrowing from State Bank of Pakistan- Under financing facility
- Imported & Locally Manufactured Plant & Machinery (LTFF) 41,626 37,524
- Temporary Economic Refinance Facility (TERF) 12,025 7,859
- Renewable Energy (REF) 17,727 17,249
- Financing Facility for Storage of Agriculture Produce (FFSAP) 4,354 924
Borrowings from State Bank of Pakistan - open market operation 1,859,618 506,015
Unwinding cost of liability against the right-of-use assets - 3,068
Term borrowing 898,171 629,246
Clean borrowing 569,100 459,703
4,167,770 2,131,696
FEE & COMMISSION INCOME
Credit refated fees 16,140 19,359
Investment banking fees - -
Commission an guarantees 1,347 3,230
17,487 22,589
GAIN / (LOSS) ON SECURITIES - NET
Realised 251 38,544 {(72,045)
Unrealised - Measured at FVPL 7.1 4,125 (740)
42,669 (72,785)




25.1

26,

27.

vi

vii
viii

xiil
Xiv
XV
xvi
xvli
xvlil

Realised

Shares
Federal Government Securities
Units of mutual funds

OTHER INCOME

Gain on sale of fixed assets
Misc. Income / Reversal of excess provisions

OPERATING EXPENSES
Total compensation expense

Property expense

Rent & taxes

Insurance

Utilities cost

Securily

Repair & maintenance

Depreciation on owned operating fixed assets
Depreciation on owned OREQ assets
Depreciation on right-of-use assets

Information technology expenses

Software maintenance
Hardware maintenance

Depreciation
Amortisation
Network charges
QOthers

Other operating expenses

Directors' fees and allowances
Legal & professional charges
Travelling & conveyance
Depreciation

Training & development

Postage & courier charges
Communication

Stationary & printing

Marketing, advertisement & publicity
Charity & Donalions

Auditors' Remuneration
Commission and brokerage

Bank charges and miscellaneous expenses

271

36.2

27.3
27.2

2023 2022

---------- {Rupees in "000) ----------
38,544 (72,045)
38,544 (72,045)

14 6,928

2 C 32

16 6,960
474,406 321,733
973 484
6,387 4,078
5,722 11,031
1,583 953
14,860 13,696
21,094 9,499
- 6,643

- 8,163
50,619 54,437
5,709 4,337
7,587 5,970
162 118
6,765 4,977
§63 1,103
20,786 16,505
13,750 14,250
8,991 14,884
30,403 14,382
961 477
238 194
1,683 1,700
1,957 2,028
1,370 2,336
5,000 2,700
2,303 2,003
2,623 3,948
10,707 5,524
79,986 64,426
625,797 457,101




2023 2022

Note =-seeeems (Rupees in "000) ~=sssauen-
271 Total compensation expense
i Fees and Allowances, etc - -
i Employees' Remuneration
i) Fixed 182,531 158,349
ii) Variable - -
of which,;
a) Cash Bonus / Awards etc. 147,488 39,509
b) Bonus & Awards in Shares etc. - -
] Charge for defined benefit plan 16,329 12,330
iv Contribution fo defined contribution pfan 14,013 12,101
v Rent & house maintenance 43,833 39,874
vi Utilities 10,794 9,374
vii Medical 12,216 11,469
viil Conveyance 47,202 38,727
Total 474,408 321,733
27.2 Auditors' remuneration
Audit fee 835 726
Half yearly review 330 287
Special certifications and sundry advisory services 929 808
Out of pocket expenses -209 182
2,303 2,003

273 Danatlons and charity

None of the directors, executives or their spouses had any interest in the donee. Detall of donations made during the year

is as follows:
2023 2022
---------- {Rupees in "000) ----mnnn-~
Consulate General of iran {School being run by the Gonsufate Office) 1,028 1,000
Saylani Welfare Trust - 1,000
The Kidney Centre . 600 500
Sindh Institute of Urology and Transplantation 1,372 -
Patient Aid Foundation 600 200
Layton Rahmatullah Benevolent Trust 600 -
The Citizen Foundation 800 -
5,000 2,760

28, OTHER CHARGES

Penalties imposed by State Bank of Pakistan



29,

30.

3041

31.

32,

Note
CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCE & WRITE OFFS - NET
Credit loss allowance held against balances with other banks
Provisions against lending to financial institutions
Credit loss allowance for diminution in value of investments
Credit loss allowance against loans & advances 8.5

TAXATION
Cusrent

Prior year
Deferred

Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit
Profit before taxation

Tax on income @ 28% (2022: 28%)

Net tax effect on income taxed at reduced rates

Net tax effect on income subject to FTR

Super tax liability
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit

Permanent difference
Others

Tax charge

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit for the year

Weighted average .nu'mber of ordinary shares

Baslc and diluted earnings per share

There are no instruments that may have a dilulive effect on earnings per share.

Note
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and balances with treasury banks 5
Balances with other banks 8

2023

2022

---------- {Rupees in '000) ---=-vann-

134 .
12,406 32,469
158,342 64,816
170,882 07,285
342,790 188,593
. 21,508
(5,445) (1,712)
337,345 208,389
1,106,096 654,366
320,768 189,766
(42,763) .
(26,449) (21,100)
103,138 -
(16,012) (1,712)
. 19,204
(1,337) 633
337,345 208,389
2023 2022
768,751 445,977

{Number of shares in '000)

600,000

600,000

{Rupees per share)

1.28 0.74
2023 2022
---------- (Rupees in '000) -----<----
158,668 154,022
296,119 41,997
454,787 196,019
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34.

34.1

34.2

34.3

344

34.5

34.6

"y S

12,

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN

General description
As mentioned in note 4.8, the Company operates an approved funded gratuity scheme for all its permanent employees,

The benefits under the gratuity scheme are payable on retirement at the age of 60 or earlier cessation of service, in lump
sum. The benefit is equal to one month's last drawn salary for each year of eligible service or part thereof, subject to a

minimum of two years of service.

Number of employees under the scheme

The number of employees covered under the deflned benefit schemes are 44 (2022; 48)

Principal actuarial assumptions

The actuarial valuation was carried out as at Becember 31, 2023 using the "Projected Unit Credit Actuarial Cost Method".
The information provided in notes 34.3 to 34.15 has been obtained from the actuarial valuation carried out as at December

31,2023,

2023 2022
-------- (Per annumy} =-=e-uue
Discount rate 15.50% 14.50%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 15.50% 14.50%
Expected rate of salary increase 15.50% 14.50%
Mortality rates (for death in service) SLIC(2001-05)-1 SLIC(2001-08)-1
Rates of employee turnover Moderate Moderate
Reconcillation of (receivable from) / payable to defined benefit plans
2023 2022

Note — =eewmme-e- {Rupees in '000) --=m-amnm
Present value of obligations 345 127,667 115,683
Fair value of plan assets 36.6 & 36.9 (140,296} {107,809)
(Receivable) / payable {12,629) 7,874
Movement in defined benefit obligations
Obligations at the beginning of the year 115,683 91,211
Current service cost 15,188 12,973
Interest cost 17,492 11,230
Benefits paid during the year {14,131) (3,847)
Re-measurement loss / (gain) (6,565) 4,118
Obligations at the end of the year 127,667 115,683
Movement in fair value of plan assets
Fair value at the beginning of the year 107,809 96,999
Interest income on plan assets 16,351 11,873
Contribution by the Company - net 21,979 12,330
Actual benefits paid from the fund during the year (14,131) (3,847)
Re-measurements gain / {foss) on plan assels 8,288 {9,546}
Fair value at the end of the year 34.9 140,296 107,809




|

34.7 Movement in payable under defined benefit schemes

Opening balance

Charge for the year

Contribution by the Company - net

Re-measurement Loss / (Gain) recognised in
other comprehensive income during the year

Closing balance

34.8 Charge for defined benefit plans

34.8.1 Costrecognised in profit and loss

Current service cost
Net interest on defined benefit liability / (asset)

34.8.2 Re-measurements recognised in OCI during the year

Loss / (gain) on obligation

- Demaographic assumptions
- Financial agsumptions

- Experience adjustment
Actuarial [oss on plan assets

Total re-measurements recognised in OCi

34.9 Components of plan assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Government Securities {Defence Saving Certificates)
Non-Government Debt Securities (Certificate of Investments)

34.10  Sensitivity analysis

Note

34.8.1

34.8.2

2023 2022
---------- {Rupees in '000) ----r----
7,874 (5.788)
16,329 12,331
(21,879) (12,330)
{14,853) 13,661
(12,629) 7.874
15,188 12,973
1,141 (643)
16,329 12,330
{1,403) 3,268
{(5,162) 847
(8,288) 8,546
{14,853) 13,661
2,676 9,595
137,620 98,214
140,296 107,809

The increass / (decrease) in the present value of defined benefit obligations as a result of change in each assumption is

summarised below:

0.5% increase in discount rate
0.5% decrease in discount rate
0.5% increase in expected rate of salary increase
0.5% decrease in expected rate of salary increase

34.11  Expected charge / {reversal) for the next financial year

™,

2023

122,887
132,725
132,417
123,144

2022

(Rupess in '000) ----------

111,177
120,467
120,183
111,401

2024
{Rupees in '000}

14,597




34.12

34.13

34.14

35.

Maturity profile

The weighted average duration of the obligation is 7.69 years.
2024

(Rupees in '000)
Distribution of timing of benefit payments (time in years)
1 5,121
5,379
14,841
6,894
8,139
-10 267,055

Db wWwN

Funding Policy
An implicit, though not formally expressed, objective is that the liabilities under the scheme in respect of members in
service on the valuation date on a going concern basis and having regard to projected future salary increases, should be

covered by the Fund on the valuation date, the total bock reserve as of the valuation date, future contributions to the
Fund, future additions to the book reserve and future projected investment income of the Fund.

As far as possible, there is an implicit objective that the contribution to the Fund should remain reasonably stable as a
percentage of salaries, under the Actuarial Cost Method employed.

The significant risk associated with the staff retirement benefit plan may include:

Mortality Risk

The risk that the actual mortality experience is different. The effect depends on the beneficiaries' service/age distribution
and the benefit.

Investment Risk

The risk of the investment underperforming and not being sufficient to meet the liabilities.

Final salary risks

The risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is higher than what we assumed. Since the benefit is
calculated on the final salary, the benefit amount increases similarly.

Withdrawal risk

The risk of hlgher or lower withdrawal experience than assumed. The final effect could go either way dependlng on ‘the
beneficiaries’ service/age distribution and the benefit.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN
The general description of the note is included in note 4.8.

2023 2022

Contributions made during the year:
---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

Employer's contribution 14,013 12,101

Employees' contribution 14,013 12,101

The number of employees covered under the defined contribution plan are 53 (2022: 48),
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37.2

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Falr value of financlal assets

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value are not significantly different from their carrying values

- gince assets and liabilities are either short term in nature or in case of loan are frequently repriced.

Fair value is an amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a fiability seftled, between knowiedgeable willing parties in an
arm’s [ength transaction. Consequently, differences may arise between the carrying value and the fair values' estimates.

The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements:
Level 1: Fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the .
assets or fiabilily, either directly {i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: Fair value measurements using input for the asset or lability that are not based on observable market data (i.e.
unobservable inputs). :

The table below analyses the investments measured at the end of the reporting period by the level in the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measured is categorised:

2023
Fair value

On halance sheet financial instruments

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(Rupees in '000)
Flnanclal assets measured

Investments - other than commaercial papers

Federal Government securities 12,956,862 2,974,935 - 16,931,797
Shares in listed companies 836,387 - - 836,287
Non Government Debt Securities 5,882,325 - - 5,882,326
19,676,674 2,974,938 - 22,650,609
2022
On balance sheet financial Instruments Fair value
Leve! 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

{Rupees in "000)

Financial assets measured

Investments ~ other than commercial papers

Federal Government securities 12,302,211 1,432,891 - 13,735,102
Shares in listed companies 1,077,444 - - 1,077,444
Non Government Debt Securities 6,160,728 - - 6,160,728

19,540,383 1,432,891 - 20,973,274

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability seitled, between knowledgeable willing parties in an
arm's langth transaction. Fair value of financial instruments is based on:

Government securities PKRV / PKFRV rates (MUFAP rates)
Term finance certificates and sukuk bonds (other than government)  MUFAP rates
Listed securities PSX rates

Fair value of other financial assets and liabilities are for short term or repriced frequently. Therefore, their carrying values are
reasonable approximations of their fair values.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has related party transactions with its associates, employee benefit ptans and its directors and Key Management Personnel.

Contributions to and accruals in respect of staff refirement benefits and ofher benefit plans are made in accordance with the actuarial valuations /
terms of the contribution plan. Remuneration of the key management personnel Is determined in accordance with the terms of their appointment.

Other transactions are at agreed rates.

Details of balances and transactions with related partles as at the end of and during the vear, other than those which have been disclosed elsewhere

in these financlal statements are as follows:

Advances

Opening balance
Addition dusing the year
Repaid during the year

Closing balance

Other assets
Other receivable {assoclated)
Deposits and other accounts

Opening balance
Received during the year
Withdrawn during the vear

Closing balance

Other Liabilitles

Interest / mark-up payable

Other liabilities

- bonus payable to MD/CEG

- payable to lran Forelgn Investment
Company - associate

- director fee payabls

Receivable from / (payable) lo
defined benefit plan

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Income

Mark-up / return / interest earmed
Expense

Mark-up / return / interest paid
Operating expenses

Fees for Board & Committee Mesting
Allowances for Board & Commifteo Meeting
Managerial Remuneration

Cash Bonus / Awards

Contribution to defined contribution plan
Rent & house maintenance

Utilities

Medical

Conveyance

Olhers

Contribution to the defined contribution plan
Payment to the defined benefit plan

Charge for defined benefit plan

* An associate and retirerment benefits plans.

2023 2022
Directors  Key manage-  Other related Directors Key manage- Other related
ment parties* ment personnel parties*
personnel
(Rupees In '000)
- 79,776 - - 77,032
- 6,827 - - 18,304 -
- (38,812) - - (15,651) -
- 47,991 - - 79,776 -
- - 18,298 - - 15,184
- 89,441 1,132,111 - 34,127 852,782
- 1,028,340 5,621,882 - 642,003 4,111,777
- {1,042 447) {5,102,281) - {586,689) {3,832 448)
- 75,334 1,661,712 - 89,441 1,132,111
- 758 61,818 - 884 37,679
- 10,241 . - 2,965 -
- - 12,713 - - 10,721
1,500 700 - -
2023 2022
Directors  Key manage-  Other related Directors Key manage-  Other related
ment parties* ment personnef parties*
personnel
{Rupees In '000)
- 3,21 - - 4,047 -
. 18,774 281,310 7,244 129,759
13,750 15,375 -
- 106,748 . - 90,189
- 63,703 - - 18,354 -
- 7,926 - 7,745 -
- 23,236 . - 21,806 -
- 6,082 - - 5,828 -
- 6,111 - - 5,939 -
- 19,102 - - 15,989 -
- 2,860 - - 708 -
- - 14,013 12,101
- - 16,329 12,330
- 21,97¢ 12,330

ek nn b e an o,



40.

CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS

Capital adequacy

As per requirements of SBP, the Bank is required to comply with the capital adequacy framework which compriées the
following capital standards: '

i)

ii)

Minimurn Capital Requtirement {MCR):
The MCR standard sets the paid - up capital that the Company is required to hold at all times.

As of the statement of financial position date, the Company's paid - up capital stands at Rs. 8 billion as against the
required MCR of Rs. 6 billion. .

Capital Adequacy Ratio:

The Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) assesses the capital requirement based on the risks faced by the banks/DFIs.
The banks/DFls are required to comply with the CAR as specified by SBP on standalone as well as consolidated
basis.

During the year 2013, SBP issued revised instructions on the computation of CAR based on Base! Il Capital Reform
as published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. These instructions also specify the transitional
arrangements from 2013 to 2019 which have now fully implemented from 31 December 2019.

Accordingly, the Bank has assessed and reported its Capital Adequacy Ratio in the financial statements on the basis
of Basel lll requirements as prescribed by SBP.

2023 2022
(Rupees in '000})

Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR):

Paid-up capital {(net of losses) 6,000,000 6,000,000
Capltal Adequacy Ratlo (CAR):
Eligibfe Commeon Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) Capitaf 6,137,654 4,775,875
Eligible Additional Tier 1 (ADT 1) Capital - -
Total Eligibfe Tier 1 Capital 6,137,654 4,775,875
Eligibte Tier 2 Capital - "
Total Eligible Capital (Tier 1 + Tier 2) 6,137,654 4,775,875
Risk Weighted Assets (RWAs):
Credit Risk 12,543,324 10,647,074
Market Risk 1,672,774 1,609,085
Operational Risk 2,558,700 2,017,508
Total 16,774,798 14,273,667
2023 2022

Required Actual Required Actual
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Adequacy ratlo 8.00% 36.59% 6.00% 33.46%
Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio 7.50% 36.59% 7.50% 33.46%
Total Capital Adequacy Ratie 11.50% 36.59% 11.50% 33.46%

Standardized Approach of Basel Il is used for calculating Capital Adequacy for Credit and Market Risk while Basic
indicator Approach is used for calculating Capital Adequacy for Operational Risk.
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2023 2022
{Rupees in '000}

Leverage Ratio (LR):

Eligible Tier-1 Capital 6,137,654 4,775,875
‘ 36,821,894 29,390,454

Total Exposures

Leverage Ratio 16.67% 16.25%

Liquidity Coverage Ratio {LCR):

Total High Quality Liquid Assets 4,721,000 5,917,500
Total Net Cash Outflow 2,488,417 3,758,333

Liquidity Coverage Ratio 1.90 1.57

Net Stable Funding Ratio {(NSFR):

Total Available Stable Funding 18,129,032 18,297 577
Total Required Stable Funding 15,611,204 14,610,898

Net Stable Funding Ratio 116% 125%

State Bank of Pakistan issued Green Banking Guidelines vide IH&SMEFD Circular No. 08 of 2017 with a view to
safeguarding against environmental risks emerging from banks and DFIs' businesses and operations. In order to align the
DFI with regulatory expectations, PICL has put in place a Green Banking Framewark focusing on following three areas:

. 1} Environmental Risk Management

For increasing financial stability through management and mitigation of environmental Risks of Lending portfolio, PICL has
In place integration of environmental risk considerations into the credit risk assessment by intraducing an Environmental

Risk Rating, which is part of the Credit Risk Assessment.

2) Business Fagcilitation

The DFl is pursuing a green portfolio through soliciting clients for Renewable Energy related Lending by offering the SBP's
Renewable Energy Refinance Scheme.

3) Own Impact Reduction

In order to reduce its own impact on environment, the DF| has set targets to lower its energy consumption, paper and
waste reduction, bring energy efficient equipments, and plantation of greenery in surroundings.

The full disclosures on the CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE RATIO & LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS as per SBP
instructions issued from time to time have been placed on the website. The link to the full disclosure is available at http:/

www.pairinvestment.com.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The primary risks associated with the Company's exposure are:

Credit Risk: the risk of loss resulting from client or counterparty defauit,

Market Risk: the exposure to market variables such as interest rates and equity prices.

Operational Rigk: the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events, and therefore includes legal risk.

The Company manages risk through a sound framework based on risk principles which includes an optimal organizational
structure, risk assessment and monitoring processes. Credit & Risk Management function (CRMD) is mandated to
implement this framework as a function independent of business segments working under the guidance of Board’s Risk

Management Committee (BRMC).
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41.1.1

41.1.2

=

The Company's Credit & Risk Management Depariment has BASEL Compliant, Credit, Market, Liquidity and Operational
Risk functions. Furthermore, Environmental Risk Management mechanism, through Green Banking Framework, has been
defined and is currently in implementation phase.

The Company's portfolio and exposures are governed through relevant policies, procedures and various risk measurement
techniques by adopting Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Stress Testing with a purpose to
achieve efficiency, effectiveness and compliance. Internal Risk Rating mechanism and transaction level risk analytics are
in place to have ongoing risk sensitive assessment and reporting. The Company is more focused towards implementing
system based risk assessment in order to have more efficiency in overall risk management processes.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss to the Company as a result of failurs by a client or counterparty to meet its contractual
obligations. It is inherent in loans, commitments to lend, fraded products, repurchase agreements (reverse repos),
placements and other lending transactions. The role of Credit Risk Management particularly includes:

- Participation in portfolio planning and management,

- Establishment of credit policies and standards that conform to regulatory requirements and the Company's overall
objectives. :

- Working with Business Units in keeping aggregate credit risk exposure within the Company's risk appetite.
- Organizing portfolio reviews focusing on qualily assessment, risk profiles, industry concentrations.
- Setting systems to identify significant portfolio indicators, problem credits and level of provisioning required.

The Company has designed an Internal Risk Rating Models and methodology to gauge credit risk elements in the banking
book of the Company.

The credit products mainly comprise of Fund based & Non-Fund based, including short term and lang term financing,
project finance, term lending, reverse repurchase, bridge finance, investment in TFCs , sukuk bonds and placements with
financials institutions, etc, Exposures are collateralized by cash equivalents, fixed assets, and current assels including
property plant and equipment, land and building, hypothecatton, pledge on stocks and receivables as the case may be,
The Company manages limits and controls concentrations of credit risk as identified, in particular to individual
counterparties and groups, and to industries, where appropriate,

Concentrations of credit risk exist if clients are engaged in similar activities, or are located in the same geographic region
or have comparable economic characteristics such that their ability to meet contractual obligations would be similarly
affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. The Company sets limits on its credit exposure to
counterparty, to groups, and to industry, which are in line with S8P standards.

Stress testing on credit portfolio is being carried out on regular basis to assess the impact of defaults on Company's
earning and capital adequacy. Cradit concentration, rating migration, default shocks and rigk aggregation of large
exposures are few of the main shocks used to gauge the strength of Credit risk standing of the Company.

Credit Risk ~ General Disclosures Basel i/ il speclfic

The Company is more focused on the intent of Basel Il/ Il rather than just treating it as a reguiatory requirement,
Therefore, in addition to the adoption of Standardized approach and reporting to SBP, the Company has already adopted
the practice of ongoing assessment as required under the advanced approaches of Basel Il .The Company has adopted
Piltar H ICAAP requirements duly approved by the Board of Directors,

Credit Risk: Disclosure for portfolio subject to the Standardized Approach

For the calculation of Risk Weighted Assets under Standardized Approach, external credit ratings have been used for alfl
exposures, where available, against banks lending, corporate lending and debt instruments. The external ratings are
further mapped with SBP ratings scale to arrive at risk welghts of each transaction.
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Types of exposures and ECAl's used

Exposures

Banks
Corporate

Credit exposures subject to standardised approach

Exposures

Corporate

Banks

Sovereigns

Retail Portfelio

Residential Mortgage Finance
Past Due Loans

Listed Equity invesiments
Unlisted Equity investments
Cash and Cash Equivalents

" Others

Vis

Rating Amount
Category Outstanding

......................

PACRA

Deduction

Net amount

-----------------------

1 1,464,983 - 1,464,983

2 6,782,245 - 6,782,245

34 1,285,790 - 1,285,790
5,8 - - -

Unrated 1 1,617,807 - 1,617,807

Unrated 2 759,657 - 759,657

206,119 - 296,119

15,931,797 - 15,931,797

14,260 - 14,260

87,234 - 87,234

365,198 - 365,198

287,732 - 287,732

126,496 - 126,496

158,668 - 158,668

2,675,488 - 2,675,488

31,853,474 - 31,853,474

Credit Risk: Disclosure with respect to Credit Risk Mitigation for Standardized approach - Basel Il specific

The credit policy of the Company covers credit risk mitigation process and requirements for all secured transactions. Key

elements include:

- Collateral type;

- Collateral quality and ranking;

- Collaterat valuation process, and
- Margin requirements

Equitable Mortgage, Token Registered Mortgage, Hypothecation Charge Over Fixed Assets, Current Assets, Pledge of
Shares, Lending against Government Securities (for repo style transaction), GOP Guarantee and Pledge of stocks are the

main type of collaterals taken against the exposure.




- LY - - - S65'0L 06zZ'cr [AANE 599'/81'9 0LL'TTE's
- [4A NS - - - 565°0L osz'ey zZL 599°/81'9 0LLZzZe's
{000, w1 ssadny)
AV A €202 A A £20Z Zz0Z £202 Zz0zZ £20Z 20z £20Z
¢ abeyg z abyyg L obeyg

Py a3uemolje S$50] Hpass) Buiurropad-uon SJUIULSIAUL SSOIL)

Lig'se ZZV W - - - S65'01 082'st ZZL'y S99'/81'9 0LL'226°S
- - - - - - ) - - 00s'se -

- - - - - 192 - - 000'cLL 000°06
992'2 SvZ'LL - - - 6£c's SHZLL sbz'LL 8Ly L15'658SY
- - - - - 696 - - 902'TLE rLL'GET
- - - - - 72 - - 000'052 SZL'E0Z
089°61 089°sL - - - - 020'6L 089'61L 859°6LL IPE'LIL

- - - - - S6¢ - - 06288y 052'7L8
SSEZL 6101 - - - vt 59821 L6101 j1eloird 4 6109
- - - - 65 - - 000's2 000'0S
{000, u1 ssadny)
2202 £20Z 2202 £20Z zzoe £Z0Z P/ TA £zoz zzoT £20Z
¢ abejg z 9bmg 1 abmg
PI2Y asuemo((e ss0| JIpaly Bunulopad-uoy SJUBWISIAU| S50I5)
(000, w1 ssadny)
zzoz £Z0T 2202 £20Z 220z £202 zz0Z £20Z zeoz £20Z
¢ abeg Z aberg | obeyg

PISY 22UBMO|R $SO] JIpa1Ty

sBuipual BuluLiopad-uopy

sbuipual ssoin

aleAlld
WUSWWSAOS f oNgng

103095 ageanud ; agnd Aq ysu uparn

SIBYIO

sebelsnag ¥ pooy

[eueuUr

uoliedlunwILLos pue sbesoys ‘podsues |
Keyues ‘1apem ‘seb (Aouno)s) Jamod
UoHINRSUOD

1939

sjeannaseulieyd pue jeauays

anxe L

103235 Assnpul AQ XS upedn

SERUTISS Jqop Ul JUDWSOAL]

ajenld
WBUWIWSACD) oHand

J0309s sjeand [ angnd Aq ysis upesn

SUORMISUl [EfoUTUlf OF SBUIpUS]

N R

8




86¥'848'1 8EL'ZTO'Z - 81Z'8L SeL'zLL 88L'1¥0'Z 581'30b' BZZ'0ZE'LL - PIL'S98'ZL
86t'2L8'L 8EL°TT0T - gLz'gL SEE'TLL 684'/¥0'C S2L'90+'Z 672'0ZELL  PIL'S9RZL slenild
- - - - - - - - - JUSWIUIBADD gnd

{000, u1 seadny)
2202 £202 z20Z £202 2202 £20z z20z £20Z 2z0e £202
¢ obeyg z abeg L abels

PI9Y aouemojje ssof ypaly $aoUBADY Bulwrouad-uoN SIJUBAPY SSOI5) 103139s ageaud ; oqnd Aq ysu npa1n

26'8/8"L 854°2Z0° - sLz'sL SeE'TLL 88L'240'2 S2L'90t'z 6ZT'0ZE' Ll #rl's98'Z)
teL'0L z06'6 - b 0S5°L 20211 gr0'ze 5L8'vEL ozL'sLy SIBUIO
- 00t'65 - - s’z - 000'Z5L $80'286 951'¢ET'L sofieranag ¥ pooy
- - - - 198 - - 9.8'z0¢ TLOPLT uopeanpg
- - - - - - - £60'9ZL S6P'LOL SiEnpIApY|
2162 9tL's - - 80ZZ 060'6 9gL0L 895'66¢ 078'32z SIOINIRG
Z90'vL Lva'sL - - 0sz'sL sra'cL 220'61 vos'toE 96£'L19 uoeslunwwed pue sbeiols ‘Hodsuesy,
- 7856 - - - - vre'ZLT 000'tzZ Y6'ZIET 9pey IElaI PUR S[ESIOYM
$95'sH7 Sa5°SHT - Zr's 119'0¢ 068'ZLY £26°90Y £98'5.8") 06¥'ZS0°Z Aiepues ajem ‘sef (Aoiosfe) Jemog
098'vgz S9LLiz - - 978 098'v8Z S91°212 09Z'cZ8 696'Lov UoIOMISUOD
- - - LY 828’6 - - 000‘ors 000'szZs ssouendde feouosta pue souonosg
- - - - - - - ¥20'9%¢ ivs'soe awdinbe uonepodsuen pue sgowoymy
668°029 668029 - - 0s0's 662'0/9 6628°049 ZL9'Li8 $29°096 o]
00002 000°0L - SSY ZIv'se 000'a2 00002 006°'18Z'L 6YE'osH'L Jebng
000's, 000°S. - - 8%z 0o0'sz 000's2 g5Z'08L 951282 wawep
- - - v8z'y Z0t'zL - - 866'SHP z8g's9s sieogneoeueyd pue feanasyn
000°00% 000'005 - - 29t 000'00% 000'005 596'00T'c ¥68°290'c ST

{000, Wi seadny)
gz0z £20Z [£AVA £20Z [ t1 £20T z202 £202 20T £20Z
¢ ebeig z abeg 1 abeyg
PI=Y asuemofie s$o| ipain

saoueApy Buruuopad-uoy

S9IUBADY SSOIS)

101085 Aiysnpur Aq ysu ppeis

SIOUBARY

Ly




41.1.8

41.1.9

41.1.10

2023 2022

Contingencies and Commitments
------- (Rupees in '000) -------

Credit risk by industry sector

Power (electricity), gas, water, sanitary 300,000 224,445
Chemical and pharmaceuticals 285,000 120
Textile 200,000 -
Sugar 200,000 -
985,000 224 565
Credit risk by pubtic / private sector
Public/ Government - .
Private 985,000 224,565
985,000 224,565

Concenfration of Advances

The Company's top 10 exposures on the basls of total (funded and non-funded exposures) aggregated to Rs 5.29 billion (2022:
4.86 billien) are as following:

2023 2022
-------- (Rupees in '000) «--s--
Funded 5,292,714 4,856,826
Non Funded - -
Total Exposure 5,292,714 4,856,826
The sanctioned limits against these top 10 exposures aggregated to Rs. 6.87 hillion (2022: Rs.
5.72 billiory).
Total Funded Classified therein 2023 2022
Provision Provision
Amount held Amount held
--------------------------- {Rupees in '000)
OAEM - - - -
Substandard - - - -
Doubtfut - - - -
Loss 670,809 670,899 1,020,889 1,020,899
Total 670,899 670,899 1,020,899 1,020,899
Advances - Province/Region-wise Disbursement & Utllization
2023 2022
Disbursements Utilization ** Utilization **
* Dishursemenis
Punjab Sindh Federal * Punjab Sindh Federal
Capital Capital
Territory - Territory -
Islamabad Islamabad

Province / region

{Rupees in '000)

{Rupees in '000}

Sindh 6,634,889

2,022,831 4,612,058

5,441,114

3,080,137 2,350,977

Total 6,634,889

2,022,8: 4,612,058

5,441,114

3,090,137 2,350,977

* “Disbursements of Province/Region wise” refers to the place from where the funds are being issued by the banks to the borrowe
** “Utilization of Province/Regaion wise” refers to the place where the funds are being utilized by borrower.
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41.2.5.1

41.3

41.3.1

41.4

2023 2022

---------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

Reconciliation of financial assets and liabilities
Assets as per Statement of financial position ' 36,441,880 32,741,055
486,364 472,102

Less: Fixed assels

Less: Intangible assefs ' 9,223 5,202
Less: Deferred tax assets 441,163 458,493
Less:
Advances, deposits, advance rent and other prepayments 30,752 105,831
Non-refundable deposits 1,583 1,683
Non-banking asset acquired against claims : - -
Advance Taxation {payments less provisions) 639,234 334,442
671,569 441,856
Interest Rate Sensitive Assets 34,833,571 31,363,402
Liabilities as per Statement of financial position 25,860,732 22 967,996
Deferred tax liabilities , .
Less:
Provision for compensated absences 4,804 -
Branch Adjustment accounts - -
Government levies payable 53,074 104,900
Provisions against off balance sheet obligations - -
Unearned commission LG - -
. 57,878 104,960
Other liabilities - yield 25,802,854 22,863,096

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and system or from
external events. PAIR Investment Company, in the light of SBP guidelines on Operational Risk Framework via BPRD
Circular# 04-2014 dated May 20, 2014, developed Operational Risk Management Framework considering the
regulatory guidelines and best praclices in the market. PAIR Investment Company is adequately monitoring &
reporting the operational risk data as per regulatory guidelines and BoD approved Operational Risk policy. With the
implementation of Operational Risk Framework, the Company Is being able to manage operational risks in a more
systematic way that includes analyzing current systems for data collection, migration, validation and retention for

current and historical reference and calculation.

‘The Company maintains a system of internal controls designed to keep operational risk at appropriate levels. Various

techniques/tools used by the company for management of Operational Risk includes RCSAs (Risk Control Self
Assessment), KRls (Key Risk indicators) and Loss data management. The Company also has In place a business
continuity plan for all critical functional areas for smooth functioning of operations.

Basel Ill Basic indicator Approach Is used for calculating the Capital Adequacy for Operational Risk.

Operational risk disclosure - Basel ll/lll specific

Basic Indicator approach of Basel 1i/ Iif has been used to calculate Operational Risk charge of the Company.

Liquidity risk

Ligquidity risk is the risk of loss to the Company arising from its inability to meet obligations as they fall due or to fund
growth in assets, without incurring unacceptable cost or losses.




41.4.1

41.4.2

41.4.3

The Company's approach fo liquidity management is to ensure, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
obligations when due, under both normal and stressed conditions without lncurring unacceptable losses or risking

sustained damage.

Liguidity risk policy has been designed that entails careful menitoring and control of the daily quui&ity position, and
regular liquidity stress tests under a variety of scenarios. Scenarios encompass both normal and stressed market
conditions, including general market crises and the possibility that access to markets could be impacted by a stress

event affecting some part of the Company's business.

The Company has developed Liquidity Risk Policy, which covers the techniques to gauge, monitor and report the
impact of potential liquidity risk indicators and its implications. Moreover, PAIR {nvestment maintain strict adherence to
SBP prescribed Liquidity Measures ensuring smoath liguidity i.e.: CRR, SLR, LCR and NSFR.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio

SBP issued BPRD Circular No. 8 dated June 23, 2016 advising implementation of Basel l liquidity standards that
constitute two ratios, i.e., Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratioc (NSFR), and five monitoring

tools,

LCR is the measure of conversion capability of the Company's High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLAs) into cash to meet
immediate liquidity requirements over a 30 days horizon.

The Company calculates Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) on monthly basis as per the guidelines given in the above
mentioned circular. The objective of LCR is to ensure the short-term resilience of the liquidity risk profile which
requires the Company to maintain sufficient High Quality Liquid Assets {(HQLAs) to meet stressed cash outflows over a
prospective 30 calendar - days period. As of 31 December 2021, the PAIR's LCR stood at 825% .

Governance of Liquidity Risk Management

Liquidity risk is managed through the liquidity risk policy approved by the Board. The Company has “zero tolerance” for
liquidity risk and will continue to maintain a comfortable margin of excess liquidity in the form of cash and readily

marketable assets to meet its funding requirements at any time.

Management of Hquidity risk is accomplished through a formal structure which includes:

- Board of Directors (BOD)

- Risk Management Commiltee

- Assel Liability Management Committee {ALCO)
- Treasury Division

- Risk Management Division & Middie Office

- Finance Division

- Information Technology Division

The Board of Directors approves the liquidily risk policy and ensures, through quarterly reviews by the Risk
Management Committee of the Board, that the Company's liquidity risk is being managed prudently, Risk Management
Committee of the Board provides overall guidance in managing the Company's liquidity risk. Liquidity position is
monitored daily by the Treasury Division and the Middle Office and reviewed regularly by ALCO,

Funding Strategy

The Comapny's prime source of liquidity is it's own Capital and funding from other Financial Institutions. The Company
also have sizable Deposits Base in the form of Certificate of investments. The Company is endeavouring to diversify
its funding sources and enhance its Long-Term funding options so as {o minimize the Liquidity Risk




41.4.4

41.4.5

41.4.6

41.4.7

41.4.8

41.4.9

41,4.10

41.4.11

41.4.12

e

e

Liquidity Risk Mitigation Technlques

Various tools and techniques are used to measure and monitor the possible liquidity risk. These include monitoring of
different lquidity ratios like Liquid Assets to Total Assets, advances to deposits, liquid assets to Clean Borrowing &
COls, Net Advances to Tolal Asset Ratio ete, which are monitored on regular basis against limits. Further, the DFl also
prepares the maturity profile of assets and liabilities to monitor the liquidity gaps over different time bands. The DF!
also ensures that statutory cash and liquidity requirements are maintained at all times.

In addition, LCR, NSFR & Monitoring Tools of Basel Ilt framework further strengthen liquidity risk management of the
company.

Liquidity Stress Testing
As per SBP BSD Circular No. 1 of 2012, Liquidity stress testing is being conducted under stress scenario. Shock
include the withdrawals of interbank and wholesale deposits. The Company's fiquidity risk management addresses the

goal of protecting solvency and the ability to withstand stressful events in the market place. Stress testing for liquidity
as prescribed in the liquidily risk policy is carried out regularly fo estimate the impact of decline in liguidity.

Contingency Funding Plan
Contingency Funding Plan (CFP) is a part of liquidity risk policy of the Company which identifies the trigger events that

could cause a liquidily contingency and describes the actions to be taken to manage it. The contingency funding plan
highlights liquidity management actions that needs to be taken to deal with the contingency. CFP highlights possible

funding sources, in case of a liquidity contingency.

Main Components of LCR

Main components of LCR are High Quality Liquid Assets and Net Cash Culflows. Outflows are mainly deposit outflows
net of cash inflows which consist of inflows from financing and money market placements up to 1 month. The inputs
for cateulation of LCR are based on SBP BPRD circular no. 08 dated 23 June 2018.

Compaosition of HQLAs
High Qualily Liquid Assets consist of Level 1 Assets which are included in the stock of liguid assets at 100%
weighlage of their market value l.e., Cash & Treasury balances, Conventional Government Securities, GOP ljarah

Sukuks, Foreign Currency Sukuks & Bonds issued by sovereigns. While Level 2 Assets comprise all equily shares
{excluding shares of Financial institutions) listed on PSX 100.

Concentration of Funding Sources
Almost half of the the Company's Balance sheet is funded by its own equity, while Borrowing from Financial Institutions

remain Key source of funding. In order to diversify its funding sources, the Company has sizable Deposits Base in the
form of Certificate of Investment while Term Borrowings from the Central Bank and other Financial Institutions are also

tapped.

Currency Mismatch in the LCR

About 88% of the Company's assets and liabilities are in local currency. Currency mismatch in other currencies is
regularly monitored.

Centralisation of Liquidity Management

Overall liquidity management of PAIR is centralised In Treasury & investment Unit. While ALCO periodicaliy monitors
the Liquidity Management of the Company.

Other Inflows & Qutfiows

Benefit of pledged deposits (deposits under lien) are not accounted for in cafculation of LCR,
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43.

43.1

43.2

433 .

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Subsequent to the year end, the Board of Directors proposed a final cash dividend of PKR 450 million (2022: PKR 350
million).

GENERAL

Comparative information has been re-classified, re-arranged or additionally incorporated in these financial statements
wherever necessary to facilitate comparison and better presentation.

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees, unless otherwise stated.

The Pakistan Credit Rating Agency Limited (PACRA) has maintained the long term entity rating to AA (Double A) and the
short term rating at A1+ (A one plus) of the Company.

DATE OF AUTHORISATION

- These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company in their meeting held on

18th February 2024

Y
JCowses.

Chief Financial Officer

WQ@%

anaging Director
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